
Location:  Zoom
Date: November 1, 2022  
Time: 7:30pm   

Start Duration Agenda Item Type Presenter
Policy 
Reference

7:30 PM 2 mins Call to Order and Indigenous land acknowledgement adm Chair Del Giudice
7:32 PM 1 min Regrets adm Chair Del Giudice GP #2c.8
7:33 PM 1 min Conflicts of Interest adm Chair Del Giudice GP #2c.2
7:34 PM 2 mins Adoption of Agenda D Chair Del Giudice

MOTION that the Board of Directors adopt the agenda 
as presented.

7:36 PM 2 mins Adoption of the Consent Agenda D Chair Del Giudice GP #2h
Monitoring Reports
EL #2b - Treatment of Staff

EL #2c - Compensation and Benefits
EL #2g - Communication & Support to the Board
EL #2n - Hiring Practices - Paid Staff
MOTION that the Board of Directors adopt the agenda 
as presented.

7:38 PM 4 mins Comments from the Chair of the Board & CGO fi Chair Del Giudice

7:42 PM 5 mins Comments from the President & CEO fi
President 
Symington

7:47 PM 4 mins Comments from the Executive Director fi ED Champagne
7:51 PM 3 mins

Approval of the September 13, 2022 meeting minutes
D Chair Del Giudice

MOTION that the Board of Directors approve the 
September 13, 2022 meeting minutes

Approval of the September 27, 2022 meeting minutes.

MOTION that the Board of Directors approve the 
September 27, 2022 meeting minutes.

7:54 PM 6 mins Direct Inspection Committee Reports D Chair Del Giudice GP #2b

EL #2j - Hiring Practices - Unpaid Staff

GP #2f - Board Committee Principles
8:00 PM 15 mins Audited financial reports D Chair Del Giudice GP #2j

MOTION that the Board of Directors approve the 
audited financial report

8:15 PM 10 mins Blood donation initiative fd Chair Del Giudice GP #2j

8:25 PM 5 mins Board Secretary Hiring Committee update fd Chair Del Giudice GP #2j

8:30 PM 2 mins Announcements fi Chair Del Giudice
8:32 PM 2 mins Action Items Summary adm Chair Del Giudice
8:33 PM 1 min Adjournment adm Chair Del Giudice

MOTION that the Board adjourn the October 18, 2022 
meeting 

1 hr 4 mins

LEGEND:
fi, For Information
fd, For Discussion
D, Decision required
adm, Administrative task

We acknowledge the traditional territory of the Neutral, Anishnawbe and Haudenosaunee people

In no specific order of priority, students will benefit from:

An affordable, accessible, and high quality academic experience

A safe, sustainable, and empowering environment
 Diverse inclusive social interaction

Products and services that cater to the financial needs of students

Wilfrid Laurier University Students' Union
Meeting of the Board of Directors

The Strategic Ends of the Students' Union

The Organization exists to represent, advocate for, and support the primary stakeholders, the students of Wilfrid Laurier University, and to 
provide them with a holistic university experience and an enhanced student life. The costs of these benefits will be justified by the results.

Land Acknowledgement



This monitoring report for Executive Limitation Policy #2b “Treatment of Staff” is 
presented in accordance with the monitoring schedule set forth by the Board of 
Directors. I certify that the information contained in this report is true and 
represents compliance with a reasonable interpretation of all aspects of the 
policy unless specifically stated otherwise. 

 

 
 
Shane Symington 
President and CEO 
Wilfrid Laurier University Students’ Union 

October 11th, 2022 
 
(Board Policy is indicated in bold typeface throughout.) 
 
 
The President will not: 

1. Operate without up-to-date written personnel procedures that: 
a. clarify rules, expectations, roles and responsibilities for staff; 
b. provide for effective handling of grievances; 
c. clarify disciplinary actions and procedures that are appropriate to 

the nature of the act; and 
d. Protect against nepotism and other wrongful conditions. 

CEO INTERPRETATION 

I interpret “up-to-date” as having been reviewed in the past calendar year (12 
months) 

I interpret “personnel procedures” as written documents that clearly identify the 
purpose and common practices of each employee within the Students’ Union. 

I interpret “rules, expectations, roles and responsibilities” as the general 
guidelines, which help, formulate procedures for all staff and volunteers within 
the Students’ Union. 

I interpret “effective handling of grievances” as the process in which all 
employees or volunteers can follow to submit grievances related to their 
position, hiring, or fellow employees/volunteers. This is to be done through the 
desk of the Human Resource Manager for formal discussion and records. 



I interpret “disciplinary actions” as actions taken to address violations of 
contract or inappropriate behavior demonstrated by paid staff or volunteers in 
a respectful and professional manner. 

I interpret “procedures” as the guidelines to adhere to when responding to the 
identified inappropriate behavior. 

I interpret “appropriate to the nature of the task” as disciplinary actions that act 
as solutions to the problem and reflect the situation at hand when it comes to 
severity. 

I interpret “protect against” as mechanisms in place to inhibit wrongful 
conditions. 

I interpret “nepotism” as the conscious or subconscious influence or persuasion 
regarding a specific hiring or promotion opportunity. 

I interpret “wrongful conditions” as any process, action or policy that does not 
provide fair and equitable opportunities and conditions to all involved. 

 OPERATIONAL DEFINITION 

Compliance will be demonstrated when: 

1) Unpaid employees are given an Unpaid Staff Code of Conduct in 
addition to position-specific Volunteer Contracts that clearly outline rules, 
expectations and responsibilities. 

2) Paid employees are provided with job descriptions and employee 
manuals that outline rules, expectations and responsibilities. 

3) Paid and Unpaid staff are familiar and comfortable with the grievance 
process. 

4) Policy outlines appropriate disciplinary actions, and the procedures that 
need to be taken to execute these actions. 

5) Employees have the ability to file a grievance as per their employee 
manuals, and are aware of the process to be followed when doing so. 

 

EVIDENCE 

1. Volunteer Code of Conduct (Appendix A) outlining expectations and 
rules that volunteers are held accountable to. 

2. Volunteer Contract (Appendix B) 
3. Student Executive Staff Employee Manual (Appendix C) outlining 

expectations and rules that the Student Executive are held accountable 
to. 

4. Grievance Policy (Appendix D) available to paid and unpaid staff.  
 



I report this section as COMPLIANT. 

 

2. Promise or imply guaranteed employment. 

CEO INTERPRETATION 

I interpret “promise” as guaranteeing a position within the Students’ Union 
explicitly. 

I interpret “imply” as strongly suggesting that an individual apply for a position 
within the Students’ Union with the impression that if they did, they would be 
rewarded said position. 

OPERATIONAL DEFINITION 

Compliance will be demonstrated when: 

1) All employees, paid or unpaid, are hired through an open, fair and 
equitable process. 

2) Employees are able to request accessibility requirements during their 
hiring process. 

EVIDENCE 

1. Paid Hiring Policies and Procedures (Appendix E) outlines process utilized 
for paid staff to ensure a fair and equitable hiring process 

2. Unpaid Staff Hiring Policies and Procedures (Appendix F) outlines 
processes utilized for unpaid staff to ensure a fair and equitable hiring 
process 

3. Accessibility Statement on the Students’ Union Website (Appendix G) 
applicants are welcome to submit any accessibility requests and/or 
requirement during the hiring process. 

I report this section as COMPLIANT. 

 

 

 

3. Retaliate against an employee for non-disruptive expression of dissent, or 
for reporting to management or to the Board of Directors acts or omissions 
by staff, management or the Board of Directors that the employee 
believes, in good faith and based on credible information, constitutes a 
violation of provincial or federal law or a governing policy of the Board. 



CEO INTERPRETATION 

I interpret “retaliate” as reacting in a way that dismisses the ideas or claims of 
the individual. 

I interpret “non-disruptive expression of dissent” as professionally 
communicating disagreement with a supervisor or other employee. 

I interpret “good faith” as an act with no malicious intent or ulterior motive 
underlying the employees’ actions. 

I interpret “credible information” as data that can be reasonably relied upon, 
including, but not limited to, first-hand accounts. 

OPERATIONAL DEFINITION 

Compliance will be demonstrated when: 

1) There is a clear grievance policy outlined in the Employee Manual and is 
clearly communicated to employees. 

EVIDENCE 

1. Grievance Policy (Appendix D) 

I report this section as COMPLIANT. 

 

4. Allow staff to be unacquainted with the President’s interpretations of their 
protections under this policy. 

CEO INTERPRETATION 

I interpret “unacquainted” as unaware or not publicly available. 

OPERATIONAL DEFINITION 

Compliance will be demonstrated when: 

1) All sections of EL#2b are in compliance 
2) President & CEO interpretations are available through Board Meeting 

Minutes. 

EVIDENCE 

A) This report will be posted at http://wwwlyourstudentsunion.ca/board-
resources/ (Students’ Union Website) 

I report this section as COMPLIANT. 



 

5. Allow staff to be unprepared to deal with emergency situations. 

CEO INTERPRETATION 

I interpret “unprepared” as being without the skills and training necessary to deal 
with an emergency situation. 

I interpret “emergency situations” as including but not limited to, natural 
disasters, fire escape plans, and harassment situations that put the employee’s 
immediate wellness at harm. 

OPERATIONAL DEFINITION 

Compliance will be demonstrated when: 

1) All full time employees and student executive are aware of fire safety 
procedures. 

2) The Students’ Union follows university administration plans for emergency 
procedures and situations. 

EVIDENCE 

1. Fire Safety Wardens 
(Appendix H) 

2. Emergency Escape Route 
(Appendix I) 

3. Fire Alarm Procedures 
(Appendix J) 

I report this section as COMPLIANT. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Global Policy Statement: 

With respect to treatment of paid and unpaid staff, the President shall not cause 
or allow conditions, which are unfair, undignified, disorganized or unclear. 



CEO INTERPRETATION 

I interpret “unfair conditions” as a working environment that is not up to 
reasonable working standards and/ or is potentially unsafe. 

I interpret “disorganized conditions” as fostering an environment that can be 
confusing, cluttered and difficult for staff to function effectively within. 

I interpret “unclear conditions” as ambiguous expectations of staff that set them 
up for failure. 

I interpret “undignified conditions” as an unseemly environment that does not 
follow best practices and does not uphold the values of the institution.    

OPERATIONAL DEFINITION 

Compliance will be demonstrated when: 

1) All sections of EL#2b are in compliance 

EVIDENCE 

1. All sections of the policy are in compliance 

I report this section as COMPLIANT. 

 

 

  



APPENDIX A 

 

VOLUNTEER CONDUCT POLICY 
 

Approving Authority: President & CEO 
Original Approval Date:  
Date of Most Recent Review/Revision: 
Related Policies, Procedures, and Documents: Volunteer Conduct Procedures 
Manual; Students’ Union Volunteer Incident Report; Grievances & Whistleblower Policy 
 
 

1. Purpose 

1.1.  This policy establishes guidelines to address performance and behavioural issues for 
any volunteers of the Wilfrid Laurier University Students’ Union. 

  

2. Definitions 

2.1. Coaching: Corrective and ongoing dialogue between a volunteer and their Coordinator 
or Executive and relevant Associate Vice President or Vice President, that is intended 
to advise the volunteer on how to constructively improve their behavior. 

2.2. Demerit: A formal indication of misconduct, fault, deficiency, or punishment. 
2.3. Misconduct: An action that is contrary to the efficiency and safety of the workplace. 
2.4. Negligence: Knowingly neglecting a duty that results in unacceptable job performance 

or workplace misconduct, or unwittingly performing a role at an unacceptable level. 
2.5. Unsatisfactory Performance: Failing to perform volunteer duties in a satisfactory 

manner as determined by the portfolio supervisor. 
2.6. Volunteer: An undergraduate student hired for a specific role who has also accepted 

and signed the Students’ Union Volunteer Conduct Agreement. 
 

3. Jurisdiction/Scope 

3.1. This policy applies to all Wilfrid Laurier University Students’ Union volunteers and is 
concerned with the enforcement of conduct procedures. 
 

4. Policy 

4.1. The Students’ Union acknowledges the mitigating or aggravating factors that 
necessitate conduct procedures, including but not limited to: 

4.1.1. Whether or not the problem has arisen as an intentional action/inaction on 
the part of the volunteer; 

4.1.2. Whether or not the volunteer accepts responsibility for their actions; 
4.1.3. Whether or not the problem is recurring; 



4.1.4. The prior job performance of the volunteer. 
4.2. Any Students’ Union volunteer or employee who witnesses a Students’ Union 

volunteer exhibit or partake in an unprofessional or disreputable behaviour are 
required to fill out a Students’ Union Volunteer Incident Report and deliver it to 
the (Associate) Vice President [(A)VP]: Finance & Administration.  

4.3. The Students’ Union shall endeavour to determine an accurate account of the 
actions and circumstances leading up to an identified problem before proceeding 
with conduct procedures under the direction of VP: Finance & Administration 
and Director Student Experience or Brantford Operations. 

4.4. The Students’ Union shall keep a confidential record of any and all conduct 
procedures on behalf of the portfolio supervisor for future reference.  

4.5. Conduct procedures shall be commenced under the following circumstances: 
4.5.1. Unsatisfactory Performance: Failing to perform volunteer duties in a 

satisfactory manner as determined by the portfolio supervisor. 
4.5.2. Misconduct: An action that is contrary to the efficiency and safety of the 

workplace. 
4.5.3. Negligence: Knowingly neglecting a duty that results in unacceptable job 

performance or workplace misconduct, or unwittingly performing a role at an 
unacceptable level. 

4.6. Any unsatisfactory performance, misconduct, or negligence observed by a supervisor 
may result in the following outcomes: 

4.6.1. Coaching conversation; 
4.6.2. Demerit allocation; 
4.6.3. Probation period; 
4.6.4. Dismissal. 
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PREAMBLE 



Wilfrid Laurier University Students' Union seeks to be a fair, equitable, and an overall good employer. 
This shall be accomplished through: 

i. Satisfactory relations between staff, management and executives, and conditions which are 
conducive to a positive work environment, which require staff on a daily basis to be challenged, 
possess a sense of accomplishment and self-worth; 

ii. The encouragement of efficiency and productivity; 
iii. This document, which is designed to offer our employees a reasonable assurance and 

expectation of what Wilfrid Laurier University Students’ Union can offer them as an employer. 
This document is in no way intended to become a collective agreement or guarantee terms of 
employment; and 

iv. This document will be reviewed annually by Human Resources to ensure that the information is 
current and up-to-date, and ensuring best practices are being followed. Upon any significant 
changes, this document will be reviewed and approved by the President & CEO and Executive 
Director & COO.  

This document will serve as a resource for your tenure as an employee of Wilfrid Laurier University 
Students’ Union. This manual and its provisions are here for your protection and service in order that 
you can maximize your work experience with us.  Included in this manual are the policies, rules, 
regulations and guidelines established for all Wilfrid Laurier University Students’ Union employees. 
We have an open-door policy at Wilfrid Laurier University Students’ Union – if you have questions, do 
not hesitate to discuss them with your direct supervisor, Human Resources, Executive Director or 
President. We do ask that you follow the levels of responsibility and first approach your direct 
supervisor with any concerns, problems, or suggestions. While we have varying departments, business 
operations and job roles, we are one team under Wilfrid Laurier University Students’ Union – striving to 
serve the Laurier community, ensuring our continued success of high quality products and good 
customer service in enhancing the student experience. As an employee of Wilfrid Laurier University 
Students’ Union, you are employed by the Students’ Union, and not by the University itself. As a 
member of this organization, you are expected to act as an upstanding member of the Laurier and 
Students’ Union community and to always treat everyone – customers, fellow peers and employees – 
with the utmost respect and courtesy.  You, in turn, can expect to be treated in the same manner. 
Congratulations, and welcome to our team! 
            
 
 
 
Zemar Hakim       Phil Champagne   
President & CEO 2019-2020      Executive Director & COO 

OCCUPATIONAL HEALTH & SAFETY 
This policy applies to all Students' Union employees (management, full-time and part-time), volunteers, 
contractors and vendors, business partners and any visitors. 

Health & Safety Statement 
The Wilfrid Laurier University Students' Union is committed to preventing occupational illness, injury 
and disease in the workplace. In fulfilling this commitment, we will provide and maintain a safe and 
healthy work environment as indicated by acceptable industry practices, and in compliance with 



legislative requirements. We will ensure hazard information, proper safety equipment, training and 
competent supervision is provided to all employees.  

Supervisors will ensure safe work practices and procedures are established and followed for their 
work areas in accordance with ministry standards and legal requirements, and that all employees 
receive adequate training on their specific tasks and equipment within. They will ensure all 
equipment remains safe and in proper working order, personal protective equipment is in proper 
working order and worn when necessary, and healthy working conditions are maintained in their 
designated work areas. Supervisors will immediately report any hazards, or changes to the working 
environment, to their staff, Human Resources, President and Executive Director, and will follow all 
proper procedures in case of emergency and/or injury. They will investigate and resolve any work 
refusals, as well as investigate any incident that results in injury and proscribe changes to training or 
working environment, as needed.   

Every employee and vo lunteer will follow ministry standards, legal regulations and the developed 
safe work policies and procedures for their specific tasks and equipment, including wearing the proper 
personal protective equipment as required, as to not endanger themselves or their fellow coworkers. 
Employees and volunteers must report any hazard or violation of the Occupational Health and Safety 
Act to their supervisor immediately, as well as any incident or injury that occurs. Employees and 
volunteers will follow all proper emergency procedures.  

Workplace Violence & Harassment Statement 
The Students’ Union is committed to the prevention of workplace violence and is ultimately responsible 
for worker health and safety. We will take whatever steps are reasonable to protect our workers from 
workplace violence from all sources. Violent behaviour in the workplace is unacceptable from anyone. 
We maintain a zero tolerance policy on violence, harassment and discrimination of any kind, 
perpetrated against or by any employee, volunteer, customer, vendor, contractor, visitor, or any other 
person at Wilfrid Laurier University. Everyone is expected to uphold this policy and to work together to 
prevent workplace violence.  

Workplace harassment means engaging in a course of vexatious comment or conduct against a worker 
in a workplace that is known, or ought reasonably to be known, to be unwelcome. This includes 
unwelcome words or actions that are known, or should be known, to be offensive, embarrassing, 
humiliating or demeaning to a worker or group of workers. It includes behavior that intimidates, isolates 
or discriminates against the targeted individual. 

Workplace violence means the exercise or attempt of physical force by a person against a worker, in a 
workplace, that causes, or could cause, physical injury to the worker. This includes a threat to exercise 
physical force against the worker, in a workplace, that could cause physical injury to the worker.  

With respect to workplace violence and harassment as defined above, any contravention may result in 
removal from the property, discipline or dismissal and/ or police involvement. 



There is a workplace violence program that implements this policy. It includes measures and 
procedures to protect workers from workplace violence, a means of summoning immediate 
assistance and a process for workers to report incidents, or raise concerns. We will investigate and 
deal with all incidents and complaints of workplace violence in a fair and timely manner, respecting 
the privacy of all concerned as much as possible. The Students’ Union will ensure this policy and the 
supporting program are implemented and maintained.  

Supervisors will adhere to this policy and the supporting program. Supervisors are responsible for 
ensuring that measures and procedures are followed by workers and that workers have the 
information they need to protect themselves. 

Every employee and volunteer must work in compliance with this policy and the supporting 
program. All employees and volunteers are encouraged to raise any concerns about workplace 
violence, and to report any violent incidents or threats to their supervisor or Human Resources 
immediately.  

            
 
 
 
Zemar Hakim       Phil Champagne   
President & CEO 2019-2020      Executive Director & COO 

 

  



Joint Health & Safety Committee (JHSC) 
Updated Health & Safety Committee lists are posted on the Health & Safety Boards in Waterloo and 
Brantford. 

Monitoring and Reporting of Hazards, Incidents, and Injuries 
In the case of any incidents to individuals – employees, customers, or visitors – and equipment, a 
Students’ Union Accident/Incident Report Form must be completed. 
If any incident results in a personal injury or accident, a Students’ Union Accident/Incident Report Form 
must also be completed and brought to Human Resources within twenty-four (24) hours of the incident. 

Emergency Procedures 
WLU Special Constables Services: If you have any problems related to security, such as theft, fights, or 
threats to safety, please inform your direct supervisor or manager-on-duty immediately. They, in turn, 
will contact Special Constable Services – internally at ext. 3333 or externally at 519-885-3333 on the 
Waterloo campus, or externally at 519-770-3778 on the Brantford campus. 

First Aid 
All the Hospitality Services Managers, the Human Resources Generalist, and the Administration 
Assistants on the Waterloo and Brantford campuses are trained in First Aid and CPR.  
In addition, there is a list of all currently trained employees located on the Health & Safety boards within 
each business/floor. If you are certified, please send a copy of your certification to Human Resources.  

First Aid Kits 
Waterloo Campus:  

Ground Floor: 
The Foot Patrol Office – all on-duty FOOT Patrol volunteers carry smaller kits on them as 
well 

1st Floor: 
Wilf’s Restaurant & Bar – one main kit located in the Wilf’s Office 
U-Desk – one main kit located behind the U-Desk desk 

2nd Floor: 
Fred Nichols Campus Centre Students’ Union office – one main kit located in the bottom 
desk cabinet in the entry to the Students’ Union office. 

3rd Floor: 
The Turret – located in the staff room in the Turret   

Brantford Campus: 
Student Centre Students’ Union office – one main kit located in the front of the office at the U-
Desk 
William’s Fresh Café – one main kit located in the back kitchen area 

Fire Alarm 
In the case of a fire alarm, please adhere to the following procedures: 



1. Remain calm 
2. If possible, shut down/turn off any equipment you are working on/with 
3. Evacuate the building in a safe and orderly manner at least 30 meters away from the building in 

the designated safe zone outlined in the Emergency Evacuation Plan for your area 
4. Follow any instructions given by the Emergency Warden(s). The following individuals are 

designated to be the Emergency Wardens for the Students’ Union: 
Fred Nichols Campus Centre, Waterloo: 

Building Evacuation Coordinator – Shawna Wey 
1st Floor – Amanda McKinney and Kelly Lee 
2nd Floor – Phil Champagne and Cathie Hughes-Meyer 
3rd Floor – Jeyas Balaskanthan and Andy Neilson 

Student Centre, Brantford: 
1st Floor – Tony Massi 

GENERAL STATEMENT ON HUMAN RESOURCES 
The Wilfrid Laurier University Students’ Union is committed to recruiting, compensating, developing and 
retaining a highly motivated, competent and qualified team of employees who share, with the Board of 
Directors, the goal of contributing to achievement of the objectives of the Students’ Union.  

The Students’ Union confirms that all human resource policies will be implemented consistently. 
Furthermore, it commits to equality among its employees for employment without discrimination, in 
addition to equitable treatment to employees and applicants. 

Employee Files 
Human Resources will maintain an official file for each employee of the Wilfrid Laurier University 
Students’ Union. All documents related to employment status and performance, are maintained in the 
official file. The employee’s file will be located in the main Students’ Union office on the Waterloo 
campus. These files remain the property of the Wilfrid Laurier University Students’ Union. It is the 
responsibility of the employee to ensure that they give Human Resources all necessary personal 
information that is accurate, complete and the most up-to-date.  

Payroll Information 
All employees must sign a contract and job description prior to starting work with the Students’ Union. 
As well, employees will not receive compensation until original copies of the Authorization to Hire form, 
banking information (either a void cheque or direct deposit form), TD1 and TD1ON Taxation forms are 
submitted and received by Human Resources. It is the policy of the Students’ Union to compensate all 
employees via Direct Deposit, bi-weekly. Bi-weekly paystubs will be available to view and print from the 
Ceridian Dayforce website. Additionally, T4 forms will be accessible through the Ceridian Dayforce. For a 
list of scheduled pay periods, please refer to the Fiscal Year & Pay Periods calendar, located on the 
companies shared drive.  

Confidentiality 
Employee files will be protected by security safeguards appropriate to the sensitivity of the information 
contained within. Access to employee files is limited as follows: 



I. An employee may view their file by making arrangements in advance with Human Resources;  
II. Material from an employee’s file provided to Human Resources prior to the examination of said 

file may be removed in confidence. If any material is removed from the file, a list of what has 
been removed will be made available to the employee;  

III. Auditors and the Wilfrid Laurier University Students’ Union Human Resources personnel will be 
the only individuals who have access to the employee’s complete file;  

IV. Individuals who have operational need to see contents of the files, for payroll or supervision 
purposes, will have access to only the specific material required, in the observation of Human 
Resources;  

V. No access to an employee’s file will be given to any other person or organization without the 
written consent of the employee or as required by law. 

Records Retention 
Employee files are the historical records of an employee’s work and benefits history while employed at 
the Wilfrid Laurier University Students’ Union. As sanctioned by the Ontario Employment Standards Act, 
the Students’ Union will retain the official employee file for a minimum of five (5) years following the 
termination of the individual’s employment, at which time they will be confidentially destroyed.  



ABOUT THE STUDENTS’ UNION 
As a student-owned and operated not-for-profit organization, the Wilfrid Laurier University Students’ 
Union can be divided into two divisions – the student representation and volunteer portion, and the 
business operations.  While the Students’ Union is a not-for-profit organization, the annual revenue is 
approximately $10 million. These profits are directly re-invested into the Students’ Union and the 
various programs and services it provides.   

Mission, Vision and Guiding Principle 
Our Mission:  
Providing the best student experience to our members. 

Our Vision:  
Members are empowered to achieve. 

Our Guiding Principles: 
The Students' Union shall be Student Driven in everything we do.  Our activities, efforts and outputs are 
driven by the vision and guidance of our students in order to enhance the undergraduate experience. 
 
The Students' Union shall Provide Opportunities for growth and personal development to all members. 
Our members will benefit from access to our wide variety of elected, volunteer, and paid opportunities. 
 
The Students' Union shall be Accountable to our student members. We believe that all students have 
the right to know what their student fees are being used for.  Furthermore, we will be responsible for 
our actions and will look to explain, clarify or justify all organizational decisions that we make. 
 
The Students' Union shall be a Community Conscious organization.  We will strive to promote and foster 
a culture of inclusivity and safety within the greater Laurier community.  We will remain cognizant of our 
unique Laurier culture and make decisions accordingly. 
 
 The Students' Union shall strive to be Progressive, exploring leading practices that fit with our members' 
future needs. The organization will constantly work to assess and improve the quality of services and 
programs provided to students. 
 
 The Students' Union shall be Adaptable to change.  The organization will react to all emerging trends 
within the post-secondary environment in order to continue to meet our member's needs. 
 
 

EMPLOYMENT TERMS & CONDITIONS 
Work Term 
The Wilfrid Laurier University Students’ Union Student Executive employees work term runs from May 
1st to April 30th, annually. If the work term is different from this period, it will be outlined within the 



employee’s contract. The regular school year term runs from the first week of September to the last 
week in April of the following calendar year.  

Probationary Periods 
I. Newly hired employees shall be subject to a probationary period of 90 calendar days, unless 

stated otherwise in the employee’s contract.  
II. To complete the probationary employment requirements, all employees will participate in 

employee orientation ensuring that they are fully orientated to the specific job and employer 
information. 

III. Under the provisions of the probationary clauses, all new employees shall have their status of 
employment reviewed by Human Resources and direct supervisor before the expiration of the 
probationary period.  At any time within the period of probation, the employment status of a 
new employee may be terminated without explanation or notice within the Ontario 
Employment Standards Act. 

Employee Orientation and Training 
This manual will cover all pertinent policies, rules, regulations and guidelines for all Students’ Union 
Student Executive employees. As well, all employees will receive specific position related training before 
working independently in the organization. This training will include, but is not limited to, workplace 
policy & procedures, customer service, health & safety, and job specific skills necessary to succeed at 
work. Employee orientation will be included with the training prior to an employee’s first in office shift. 
 
Noncompliance with the policies and procedures of the Wilfrid Laurier University Students’ Union 
outlined in this manual, as well as business operation(s) and/or job specific manual(s), in addition to 
health & safety policies, will result in disciplinary actions as outlined in the provisions of the Progressive 
Discipline Policy. 

Legislated Training  
- Occupational Health & Safety 
- WHIMIS [Workplace Hazardous Materials Information System] 
- AODA [Accessibility for Ontarians with Disabilities Act] 
- Integrated Accessibility for Ontarians with Disabilities 

Dress Code 
The Students' Union office environment will promote a business-casual dress code. This dress code 
encompasses comfortable clothing, which one would consider acceptable in receiving special guests and 
conducting business outside of the Students' Union at any given time. Overall dress code restrictions 
and recommendations are the responsibility of the Executive Director and the President. Employees 
who arrive at work dressed inappropriately will be issued a warning and/or sent home to change their 
attire. 

 



For the safety of all staff, individuals must wear clothes and footwear that do not put the safety of 
themselves or others at risk. Risk includes physical injury with regards to clothes that may get caught in 
machinery or restaurant equipment, and/or harassment related issues whereby clothing may be 
deemed to be offensive. Sandals or open-toe shoes are permitted if they do not cause a safety concern 
within your specific position (i.e. closed heel and toe, non-slip shoes must be worn in kitchen areas). 
Dresses, skirts and dress shorts must be knee length or longer.  

   

Casual dress periods will be announced by the Executive Director and the President. Specific to Dress-
Down Friday's, jeans that are not ripped, and knee length casual shorts are permitted. 

Conduct 
I. Employees will be polite, sociable and efficient when serving any customer or guest.  

II. Student Executive employees will cooperate and support management and fellow staff 
members in confrontations, problems, etc. Any disagreements in the execution of tasks will be 
addressed privately to the respective supervisor after the event/incident.  

III. Employees will not participate in activities distracting to their duties during office hours, as it is 
disruptive for fellow employees in the office.  

IV. When employees arrive for work they will be neat in appearance, abiding by the office Dress 
Code Policy. Employees may be sent home due to an inferior uniform. 

V. Employees shall not permit any patrons (friends or otherwise) into a Students’ Union 
establishment or event without first getting the approval of Hospitality Management.  

Representing the Students’ Union 
Employees’ behavior while off-duty must reflect the knowledge that they are ambassadors of the 
Students’ Union, and the University as a whole. While we cannot police your activities outside of the 
organization, be mindful of how your activities will impact your job performance while on duty. As an 
employee of the Students’ Union, you represent the Students’ Union and its values. Any off-duty 
behaviour reflects directly on the organization. 

Alcohol and Illegal Drugs 
Consumption of any alcoholic beverages or illegal drugs prior to or during work hours is strictly 
forbidden.  If any employee is witnessed or suspected of being intoxicated or under-the-influence, they 
will be immediately sent home and pending a meeting with the department supervisor and Human 
Resources, terminated from their contract. Any consumption after shift can be done with the 
understanding that the employee is still an ambassador of the Students’ Union, and the University as a 
whole. 

Resignation 
An employee who decides to resign must submit a letter of resignation to Human Resources and their 
direct supervisor. The letter of resignation should specify the effective date of resignation and offer an 
appropriate notice period of no less than two (2) weeks or as otherwise detailed in the employment 
agreement. 



 
  



ATTENDANCE & SCHEDULING 
Hours of Work 
The Students’ Union office hours are 8:30am-4:30pm, Monday-Friday. Please note that the office hours 
of each individual and their specific position will vary, and may be modified at any time throughout the 
year to reflect customer demands. You must notify your direct supervisor and the Administration 
Assistant if there will be any changes to your normal work schedule.  

Most Student Executive employees are required to work forty (40) hours per one (1) work week; 
normally eight (8) hours per day; any regular deviations from these hours will be outlined in the 
employee’s contract. All employees are expected to work occasional evenings and weekends.  

Employee Breaks 
As stated in the Employee Standards Act (2000), the employer (the Students’ Union) is obligated to 
provide any employee who works longer than five (5) hours consecutively, a thirty (30) minute unpaid 
break. However, as an additional benefit to our full-time staff members, the Students’ Union provides a 
one (1) hour paid break per eight (8) hour shift. 

Vacation Time 
Vacation time is provided by the Students’ Union for the purpose of contributing to the health and well-
being of employees, whereby our employees may refresh themselves and maintain a healthy work/life 
balance. All Student Executive employees receive ten (10) paid vacation days during their employment 
period, unless otherwise indicated in their contract.  
 
Vacation requests must be submitted through Dayforce and approved by the employee’s direct 
manager. Requests should be made giving as much notice as possible in order to assure approval.  
 
Employees may take their vacation entitlements or portions thereof, when it is convenient to the 
functional requirements of the organization. To ensure adequate coverage is maintained, in cases of 
conflicting requests, the President will maintain a fair and consistent process in assessing each case. The 
Students’ Union reserves the right to schedule mandatory vacation days for employees as a method of 
ensuring that banked vacation time is utilized prior to the employee’s contract end date.  
 
When a paid holiday falls during an employee’s vacation period, one less day will need to be reported.  
 
Should an employee be ill during an approved vacation period, the employee may request a substitution 
of sick leave for the confined period and a rescheduling, by mutual agreement with the President, of the 
unused portion of the vacation for a later date.  

Lieu Time 
Time off in lieu is accrued when an employee has worked above the hours outlined in their contract, but 
below forty-four (44) hours in one (1) work week. The rate is calculated at one to one (1:1), therefore for 
one (1) hour worked in access of contractual hours, one (1) hour of time off in lieu will be given. The 



Students’ Union only tracks lieu at an hourly rate, therefore minute intervals will not be considered. All 
positive (earned) and negative (used) hours must be indicated as such on the employee’s monthly 
attendance report.  

 

Management members are exempt from lieu eligibility. Under the Employee Standards Act, 2000, a 
manager is defined as: (a) a person whose principal employment duties consist of supervising or 
directing, or both supervising and directing, human or other resources; or (b) a person employed in an 
executive capacity.  

 

The employee’s direct supervisor must approve all lieu prior to it being earned. If an employee merely 
wants to attend an event outside of regular work hours, but has not been asked or told by their 
supervisor that they need to be there for the event to take place or for position specific reasons, these 
hours may not be counted as time off in lieu. All necessary measures must be taken to avoid accrual of 
lieu, where possible, therefore flexing ones work week to accommodate for the afterhours event is 
encouraged, rather than earning time off in lieu.  

 

All employees must take their time off in lieu within three (3) months of the date to which the lieu time 
was accrued. Lieu will expire after (3) months’ time. Banking of lieu is not permitted.  

Overtime Lieu 
Overtime lieu is earned once the employee has worked forty-four (44) hours in one (1) work week at a 
rate of one to one and one half (1:1.5).  

 

Management members are exempt from overtime lieu eligibility. Under the Employee Standards Act, 
2000, a manager is defined as: (a) a person whose principal employment duties consist of supervising or 
directing, or both supervising and directing, human or other resources; or (b) a person employed in an 
executive capacity.  

Illness/Sick Time 
Student Executive employees are granted six (6) paid sick days off per contract year. If you are unable to 
work due to illness, you must inform your direct supervisor, and indicate you will be away in the Out of 
Office Channel in Slack as soon as you know you are unable to come into work.  
 
You must ensure to document the missed hours using Dayforce.  



Staff Meetings 
Full-time staff meetings are held on a monthly basis. Individual department and/or position specific 
meetings may be held more frequently. Meetings are held for informational and training purposes, to 
stay current with the changes to the operations and to review policies and procedures. Staff meetings 
are considered mandatory and all Student Executive staff members are expected to be in attendance.  

Observed Holidays 
The Students’ Union observes the following holidays, coinciding with the university calendar, and is 
traditionally closed for operation: 
 New Year’s Day (January 1st) 
 Family Day (third Monday in February) 
 Good Friday (the Friday prior to Easter Sunday) 
 Victoria Day (the Monday prior to May 25th) 
 Canada Day (July 1st) 
 Civic Holiday (first Monday in August)* 
 Labour Day (first Monday in September)** 
 Thanksgiving Day (second Monday in October) 
 Christmas Day (December 25th) 
 Boxing Day (December 26th) 
 New Year’s Eve Day (December 31st) 

 
Please note, the Civic Holiday, while an observed holiday, is not a statutory holiday recognized by the 
Employment Standards Act (2000).  

Inclement Weather 
Severe Weather Closure does not mean you do not have to work. If the University remains open, all 
employees are expected to make every reasonable effort to come into work, but not endanger yourself 
or others in doing so. If the University is closed due to inclement weather, or the President and 
Executive Director make the decision to close the office due to poor weather conditions, then 
employees should not come into work. If you are unable to get to work due road closures or severe 
weather conditions, but the office is open, please contact your direct supervisor as soon as you know 
you are unable to arrive safely. 

ADDITIONAL BENEFITS 
Educational Assistance Program 
The Students’ Union offers support for employees who wish to pursue educational opportunities that 
will enhance their job performance capabilities and improve their opportunities for advancement within 
their careers. The Students’ Union has adopted this program to help provide our employees with the 
assistance they need in a non-discriminatory and uniform manner. 
 
The Educational Assistance Program supports one hundred percent (100%) reimbursement for eligible 
tuition or course fees for classes taken during the contract period. As well, the Program offers support 
for professional development opportunities at a maximum of six hundred dollars ($600) per 



opportunity. The maximum number of each opportunity is outlined within each employee’s contract. 
The employee will have the opportunity to take advantage of this program for mutually agreed upon 
education initiatives that will benefit both the Employee and The Students’ Union based on the 
following: 

I. Fifty percent (50%) of the total course tuition fees will be reimbursed to the employee upon 
proof of payment for the course when documentation is provided to the Student’s Union;  

II. The remaining fifty percent (50%) of the total course tuition will be reimbursed upon successful 
completion of the course requirements;  

III. Therefore an employee will be entitled to one hundred percent (100%) of tuition 
reimbursement of a successfully completed course;  

IV. An employee who fails to successfully complete a course in which they are enrolled will not be 
entitled to a reimbursement and will be required to refund the Student’s Union the initial fifty 
percent (50%) paid to the employee.  

Employee Requested Education 
Employees must request education assistance for courses in writing to their supervisor. The Students’ 
Union may provide assistance for the costs associated with employee requested education at their 
discretion, should the education requested present a perceived benefit to the individual and the 
company. 

Employer Initiated Education  
The Students’ Union may suggest or require that an employee upgrade their knowledge base through 
education for perceived benefits to job performance. Organization initiated education, and any tuition 
fees associated with courses, certifications, licenses or degrees shall also be reimbursed.  

Work Schedule Options 
Students’ Union employees that have been required, or approved for education assistance may have 
their work hours adjusted to assist them in the fulfillment of their normal work schedule requirements.  
Employees are required to attend training and courses outside their normal work hours unless 
specifically approved by their supervisor. However, where such courses are only offered during working 
hours, the staff member may take leave, with their supervisor’s approval, and provided that the staff 
member makes up the lost time through flexible work assignments. Employees will be granted such a 
leave provided that the operating needs of the department are minimally affected. In the event of 
conflicts between scheduling and departmental needs, such conflicts will be resolved on a seniority basis 
to ensure operating requirements of the department are not disrupted. 

Phone Benefit Program 
The Students’ Union offers financial support to employees for their personal cellphone devices in order 
to enhance their job performance capabilities, improve accessible multi-campus communications, as 
well as provide opportunities for after office hour communications during events and programming. The 
Students’ Union has adopted this program to help provide our employees with the assistance they need 
in a non-discriminatory and uniform manner. 
 



The benefit provides a reimbursement of fifty-five dollars ($55) per month for the duration of the 
contract period to go towards their personal cellphone device plan. The employee can either submit a 
Petty Cash Reimbursement Request form monthly, or submit an Expense Requisition form every other 
month. At the very least, employees must submit their personal phone benefit reimbursement on a 
termly (every four (4) months) basis.  

Parking Pass Supplement 
The Students’ Union will provide all full-time employees with a gold level staff parking pass if the 
individual lives beyond a two (2) kilometre radius from campus grounds. The employee must notify 
Human Resources if they will need a pass in advance, and then fill out the required paperwork once 
provided.  

 

EMPLOYEE DISCIPLINE 
Disciplinary Protocols 
The primary objective of the disciplinary process is to correct unacceptable work performance or 
behavior. Most performance issues relate to an employee’s ability to carry out tasks and responsibilities 
satisfactorily. Satisfactory performance includes, but is not limited to such expectations as regular 
attendance and adherence to work rules and good on-the-job behavior. This policy is designed to focus 
on corrective, rather than punitive, action and to ensure that such action is fair, firm and consistent. 

Guidelines for Disciplinary Action 
Before any disciplinary action is taken, the supervisor must investigate the circumstances leading to 
dissatisfaction of the employee’s performance or behavior with Human Resources. They will be as 
thorough as possible in this investigation, being careful to document all of the pertinent information 
gathered. Once the information is gathered, and dissatisfaction in the employee’s behaviour is in fact 
found, disciplinary measures will be taken following the process outlined hereafter.  

Timeliness 
It is very important for disciplinary action to be timely. Incidents of poor performance and/or 
inappropriate behavior must be brought to the employee’s attention within forty-eight (48) hours of the 
incident.  

Investigative Approach 
While the supervisor is required to take a number of factors into account when deciding what, if any, 
disciplinary action is appropriate, it is important that the recognition of poor performance or 
inappropriate behavior in the workplace be consistent. For example, it would not be fair to discipline 
one employee for tardiness but not to discipline others. Nevertheless, levels of discipline might 
differentiate pending situational circumstances. 



Progressive Discipline Process 
The following represents the maximum number of steps required to handle employee infractions of 
stated policies, procedures and performance expectations. Infractions of greater severity may not 
require that all steps be taken, proceeding to the more advanced stages immediately. 
 
All employees are subject to the disciplinary authority of the Students’ Union, unless some non-
Students’ Union interests are deemed involved within the University, in which case the Vice-President of 
Student Affairs, or designate, may specifically authorize proceedings under the Non-Academic Student 
Code of Conduct.  

Verbal-Written Warning 
The disciplinary process consists of three stages – first warning, second warning, and third warning.  
Regardless of the infraction (repeated similar occurrences or a variety of different infractions), the 
warnings are sequentially given. Once an employee receives their third warning, regardless of the 
severity of the infraction, they will be sent home, and pending a meeting with Human Resources and 
their supervisor, either suspended or released. 
 
If a verbal warning is needed, the supervisor must contact Human Resources and have them create a 
verbal-written warning which outlines: the nature of the infraction, the reason for the warning; the 
required steps to be taken to correct or prevent future occurrences; as well as indicate what will happen 
if the behaviour is repeated. The supervisor and Human Resources will then meet with the employee to 
discuss their behaviour, and the contents of the verbal-written warning. The employee must sign off on 
the warning documentation to confirm that they have received it, and copies will be distributed to both 
the employee and the Human Resources Generalist (to be placed in the employee’s file for future 
review).  
Verbal-written warnings must be given to the employee within forty-eight (48) hours of the infraction. If 
unable to within the timeframe, the employee must be notified that they will be receiving a warning 
within forty-eight (48) hours of the incident.   

Suspension 
Human Resources, in collaboration with the employee’s supervisor, will prepare a written suspension 
letter. This letter will: state the nature of the infraction; refer to previous warnings (if applicable); 
outline the disciplinary action to be taken; direction for corrective action; and clearly state that any 
further infractions will result in termination. The minimum suspension will be for five (5) days. The 
employee must sign off on the warning documentation to confirm that they have received it, and copies 
will be distributed to both the employee and Human Resources (to be placed in the employee’s file for 
future review). It is the responsibility of the supervisor to arrange workload coverage during the period 
in which the employee is suspended, if necessary.  

Termination 
Human Resources, in collaboration with the employee’s supervisor, President and Executive Director will 
prepare a written termination letter. This letter will state the nature of the infraction, refer to previous 



warnings (if applicable), and clearly state that the individual’s employment is being terminated. The 
employee must sign off on the termination letter to confirm that they have received it, and copies will 
be distributed to both the employee and Human Resources (to be placed in the employee’s file for 
future review).  
 
Infractions that can lead to immediate termination: 

I. Abandonment of shift or repeated lateness of shifts; 
II. Slander or misuse of the Students’ Union name or reputation, online or otherwise;  

III. Theft, including but not limited to the following: 
i. Theft of money or property from campus, including all the business operations, 

customers, or employees. 
IV. Falsification of employee records, time records, deposit slips, customer transactions, or any 

other records; 
V. Negligence or willful destructive acts will not be tolerated, including but not limited to the 

following: 
i. Intentional misuse of, destruction of, or damage to campus property or equipment; 

ii. Fighting or willful acts resulting in injury to others while on campus property, 
amongst employees or customers;  

VI. The use, possession, or being under the influence of alcohol, narcotics, or any other 
intoxicants during the employee’s scheduled office hours;  

VII. Knowingly or unknowingly breaching any rules and/or regulations as set out by the Ministry; 
and  

VIII. Any breach of the Occupational Health and Safety Act of Ontario. 

PAID STAFF HIRING PROCESS 
The Wilfrid Laurier University Students’ Union is committed to recruiting, compensating, developing and 
retaining a highly motivated, competent and qualified team of employees who share, with the Board of 
Directors, the goal of contributing towards achieving the objectives of the Students’ Union. The 
Students’ Union confirms that all human resource policies will be implemented consistently. 
Furthermore, it commits to equality among its employees for employment without discrimination, in 
addition to equitable treatment to its employees and applicants.  
 
The process in which the Students’ Union follows when hiring paid staff members is outlined below:  

I. Post each position for a minimum of five (5) business days; 
II. Must interview a minimum of three (3) people whenever possible; 

III. Hiring panel must consist of a minimum of three (3) people whenever possible: 
i. One (1) hired student: includes any Hiring and Recruitment volunteer, part-time, or 

full-time staff member who paid Wilfrid Laurier University student fees in the school 
year of which the interview is taking place, or Student Executive; 

ii. One (1) supervisor from the department that the position reports under; and 
iii. Either one (1) other person from the department that the position reports under, or 

Human Resources. 
IV. Any conflicts of interest for the hiring panel must be declared prior to the interview process, 

as well as be brought to the attention of Human Resources, in addition to the Executive 
Director and/or President; 



V. All interviewed applicants must be given the Human Resources contact information for 
feedback purposes;  

VI. All interviewed applicants must be given a timeline as to when they will be notified of 
successful candidacy, in addition to if, and when, they will be notified of unsuccessful 
candidacy;   

VII. Human Resources must be notified of successful candidate immediately following the 
completion of the interview process to draft an offer to the preferred candidate; 

VIII. No announcement will be made to staff (or otherwise) until the signed contract is received, 
and no information will be released about any of the applicants, interviewees or the 
successful candidate without consent of that individual. 

GRIEVANCES & WHISTLE-BLOWER POLICY 
The Students’ Union is committed to high standards of ethical, moral, and legal business conduct. In line 
with this commitment, and the Students’ Union commitment to open communication, this policy aims 
to provide an avenue for all employees (paid and unpaid) to raise concerns and reassurance that they 
will be protected from reprisals or victimization for voicing their issues. Furthermore, the Students’ 
Union recognizes that employer/employee (or supervisor/subordinate) relationship problems will arise 
from time to time. 
 
As such, this policy – as mandated in EL #2b of the Students’ Union Policy Governance Manual – is 
intended to protect the individual if concerns are raised regarding the following: 

I. Incorrect financial reporting; 
II. Unlawful activity or violation of a law/legislation; 

III. Activities that are not in line with the Students’ Union policy, including the Part-Time Staff 
and Volunteer Code of Conducts; 

IV. Activities which otherwise amounts to serious improper conduct or gross mismanagement; 
V. An abuse of authority including alleged improper behavior, disciplinary action, or unfair 

treatment;  
VI. A substantial and specific danger to public health or safety. 

Safeguards 
I. Harassment or Victimization – harassment or victimization for reporting concerns under this 

policy will not be tolerated. 
II. Confidentiality – every effort will be made to treat the complainant’s identity with 

appropriate regard for confidentiality, providing anonymity for the individual when 
required. 

III. Anonymous Allegations – we encourage individuals to provide their names to allegations, to 
allow appropriate follow-up questions and investigations, which may not be possible unless 
the source of the information is identified. However, concerns expressed anonymously will 
still be explored appropriately. 

IV. Bad Faith Allegations – any allegations, upon investigation, that are deemed malicious or in 
bad faith may result in disciplinary action. 

Process for Whistle-blowing 
1. Reporting – this procedure is intended to be used for serious and sensitive issues. Such 

concerns, including those related to financial reporting, unethical or illegal conduct, may be 
reported directly to either the employee’s direct supervisor or Human Resources; 



2. Timing – adequate timeliness is required, the earlier a concern is expressed, the easier it is to 
take action; 

3. Evidence – although the individual is not expected to provide actual evidence on an allegation, 
the individual should be able to demonstrate to the person contacted that the report is being 
made in good faith. 

Process for Grievances 
In order that employees may be assured fair and impartial consideration of their problems, the following 
method of presenting, reviewing, and adjusting grievance has been established: 

1. The employee should first attempt to resolve the grievance informally by discussing it with their 
immediate supervisor or department manager.  The supervisor may request the assistance of 
Human Resources.  If the problem is related to the interpretation of policy, the employee may 
first choose to discuss the problem with Human Resources; 

2. If the matter is not resolved to the employee’s satisfaction at the informal stage, the employee 
may proceed to the formal grievance stage by presenting the complaint in writing to their 
immediate supervisor, with a copy to Human Resources; 

3. Upon receipt of the written grievance, the supervisor will review and discuss the grievance with 
their department manager, and Human Resources. At that time, it will be determined whether a 
formal discussion is necessary in order to resolve the situation. During this discussion the 
following people will be present; the employee, their direct supervisor, Human Resources, and 
any other parties that may be necessary regarding the specific complaint;  

4. Following the formal discussion, Human Resources (or Executive Director and/or President 
where necessary) will provide the employee with a written decision on the grievance within ten 
(10) working days of the formal discussion. 

 
The various discussion stages of this procedure have been established to give those involved the 
opportunity to present facts, views, and information which are pertinent to the situation and, it is 
hoped, will contribute to the satisfactory settlement of the grievance. During this process, the Students’ 
Union may review with legal counsel. The written decision of the President is final and binding on the 
employee. 
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APPENDIX G 

Students’ Union AODA  Statement of Commitment  

The Wilfrid Laurier University Students’ Union is committed to providing a barrier-free 
environment for our clients/customers, patients, students, employees, job applicants, suppliers, 
visitors, and other stakeholders who enter our premises, access our information, or use our 
transportation services. As an organization, we respect and uphold the requirements set forth 
under the Accessibility for Ontarians with Disabilities Act (2005), Customer Service Standard, 
and the Integrated Accessibility Standards Regulation for Information and Communications, 
Employment, and Transportation, and eventually, for the Built Environment. 

Our commitment to making our organization accessible to everyone includes the integration of 
accessibility legislation with our policies, procedures, programs, and training. We are committed 
to reviewing and incorporating the following information with our employees: 

 Legislation regarding the Human Rights Code and the AODA, 2005. 
 Integrated Accessibility Standards for Information and Communications, Employment. 
 Accessible employment practices such as recruitment, assessment, and selection. 
 Developing emergency response plans and individual workplace accommodation plans for 

employees with disabilities. 
 Customer service standards. 
 Accessible communication supports and information formats (digital and non-digital). 
 Communicating with people with various forms of disabilities. 
 Accessible websites and web content. 
 Assistive devices, mobility aids, service animals and support persons. 
 Transportation vehicles and equipment requirements. 
 Notices of service disruptions (temporary or long-term). 
 The Students’ Union’s relevant policies and procedures regarding accessibility. 
 Reporting procedures. 
 Training procedures. 

The Wilfrid Laurier University Students’ Union realizes that providing accessible and barrier-
free environments for everyone is a shared effort. For more detailed information on our 
accessibility policies, plans, and training programs, please contact Chris Hyde, Director of 
Policy, Research and Advocacy. 
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Policy Wording EL#2c 
 
With respect to employment, compensation and benefits to employees, 
consultants, contract workers and unpaid staff, the President may not cause or 
allow jeopardy to fiscal integrity or public image.  
 
The President will not:  

1. Change the President’s own compensation and benefits, except as those 
benefits are consistent with a package for all other employees.  

2. Establish current compensation and benefits that deviate materially from 
the geographic or professional market for the skills employed.  

3. Create obligations over a longer term than revenue can be safely 
projected.  

4. Establish or change pension benefits so as to cause unpredictable or 
inequitable situations, including those that:  

a. incur unfunded liabilities;  
b. provides less than some basic level of benefits to all full-time 

employees, though differential benefits to encourage longevity are 
not prohibited; or  

c. allow any employee to lose benefits already accrued from any 
foregoing plan.  

 
Executive Limitations #2c “Compensation and Benefits” 

This monitoring report for Executive Limitation Policy #2b “Treatment of Staff’ is 
presented in accordance with the monitoring schedule set forth by the Board of 
Directors for the 2022-2023 fiscal year. I certify that the information contained in 
this report is true and represents compliance with a reasonable interpretation of 
all aspects of the policy unless specifically stated otherwise.  

 
Shane Symington 
President & CEO  
Wilfrid Laurier University Students’ Union  
 
October 11, 2022 

Global Policy Statement Wording EL #2c: With respect to employment, 
compensation and benefits to employees, consultants, contract workers and 
unpaid staff, the President may not cause or allow jeopardy to fiscal integrity or 
public image.  



CEO INTERPRETATION  
 I interpret “jeopardy to fiscal integrity” as the Students’ Union expending 
resources beyond its ability to pay.  

I interpret “public image” as the reputation of the Students’ Union amongst 
students, University administrators, external stakeholders and partners, other 
student organizations and regions associated with Laurier’s undergraduate 
campuses in Brantford and Waterloo.  
  
OPERATIONAL DEFINITION  
 Compliance will be demonstrated when:  
  

1. All sections of EL#2c are in compliance.  
  
EVIDENCE  
  

A. All sections of EL#2c are in compliance.  
  
I report this section as COMPLIANT.  
 
Policy Wording EL#2c1: The President will not:  

1. Change the President’s own compensation and benefits, except as 
those benefits are consistent with a package for all other employees.  

 
CEO INTERPRETATION  
  
I interpret “change the President’s own compensation and benefits” as the 
President altering their annual salaried pay, entitlements and other perks offered 
through the contract without approval of the Board. This excludes yearly 
increases concerning the Consumer Price Index (CPI), or benefit amendments 
that are made for all employees of the Students’ Union.  
  
OPERATIONAL DEFINITION  
Compliance will be demonstrated when:  

1. The President’s salary and benefits package complies in full with the 
Students’ Union Full Time Staff Manual and its policies.  

2. The President signs an employment contacts authorized by the Chair of 
the Board.  

3. The President’s salary does not exceed the salary of the preceding 
President by an amount greater than an increase equivalent to the 
Ontario All-Item Consumer Price Index (unless otherwise approved by the 
board).  

  
 



EVIDENCE   
1. President’s Contract (Appendix A) was approved and signed by the chair 

of the board.  (Please note the signed copy of my contract is stored by 
Human Resources in the office and therefore I could not include a photo 
of it) 

2. The President’s Salary was not increased by more than CPI  
  
I report this section as COMPLIANT  
 
Policy Wording EL#2c2: The President will not:  

2. Establish current compensation and benefits that deviate materially 
from the geographic or professional market for the skills employed.  

 
CEO INTERPRETATION  
  
I interpret “deviate materially” as compensation that is drastically different, 
either with an increase or a decrease from the standard fair market rate.  
  
I interpret “geographic market” as the post-secondary environment comparable 
to other Students’ Union/Associations in Ontario that do similar work to our 
Organization.  
  
I interpret “professional market” as the environment in which current and 
prospective employees compete for an employment opportunity at various 
organizations based on their skillset and experience.  
  
  
OPERATIONAL DEFINITION  
 Compliance will be demonstrated when:  

1. The Students’ Union posts the estimated salary on job postings and 
hires applicants that have requisites for the job posted. The final salary 
for newly hired staff is determined using:  

a. geographic market  
b. external comparisons  
c. internal comparisons  

2. Current employees have the ability to review their job descriptions 
and present a case for enhanced compensation and benefits to their 
direct supervisor.  
3. The Students’ Union bases new hire wage  

  
EVIDENCE  

1. The president’s Salary was not increased by more than CPI  
  

I report this section as COMPLIANT  



 
 
Policy Wording #2c3: The President Will Not:  

3. Create obligations over a longer term than revenue can be safely 
projected.  
 

CEO INTERPRETATION  
 I interpret “obligations” as committed contractual compensation based in legal 
standards pertaining to compensation and/or benefits to employees.  
  
I interpret “safely projected” as conducting a financial analysis while taking into 
consideration current and future fluctuations of cash flow and assets.  
  
OPERATIONAL DEFINITION  
 Compliance will be demonstrated when:  

1) Student executive contracts only include one year.  
2) The budget is set annually and approved by the Board and includes all 

salaries and benefits anticipated for the year.  
3) All employment agreements and contracts have a termination clause 

which is consistent with statute obligations.  
  
EVIDENCE  

1)  Student executive contracts only include one year.  
2) The budget is set annually and approved by the Board and includes all 

salaries and benefits anticipated for the year.  
3) All employment agreements and contracts have a termination clause 

which is consistent with statute obligations.  
 
I report this section as COMPLIANT.  
 
Policy Wording #2c4: The President Will Not:  

4. Establish or change pension benefits so as to cause unpredictable or 
inequitable situations, including those that:  
a) incur unfunded liabilities; 
b) provides less than some basic level of benefits to all full-time 

employees, through differential benefits to encourage longevity are 
not prohibited; or  

c) allow any employee to lose benefits already accrued from any 
foregoing plan 

 
CEO INTERPRETATION  
 I interpret “unpredictable” as deviating from established standards and creating 
circumstances based in uncertainty, which pose a risk to the Organization.  
  



I interpret “inequitable” as unfair and unjust circumstances pertaining to 
compensation and benefits for staff.  
  
I interpret “unfunded liabilities” as financial risks caused by a lack of cash flow 
and assets, deviating from contributions and earnings.  
  
I interpret “basic level of benefits” as the pension and other perks offered to all 
full-time employees who have been with the Students’ Union since 2008, which 
are required to sustain a healthy financial lifestyle without strains.   
  
I interpret “benefits” as a service and perks provided through employment that 
have cash value upon termination or resignation including lieu time, unused 
vacation days.  
  
OPERATIONAL DEFINITION  
Compliance will be demonstrated when:  

1) The Students’ Union uses the defined contribution model for its 
employees.  

2) All full-time employees have at least the basic level of benefits as defined 
above.  

3) Employees do not lose out on any benefits that have been previously 
accrued.  

  
EVIDENCE  

1) All full-time employees have at least the basic level of benefits as defined 
above.  

2) Employees do not lose out on any benefits that have been previously 
accrued.  

  
I report this section as COMPLIANT.  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



 
 
Appendix A  
 
 



 
 
 



Executive Limitation #2g “Communication & Support to the Board” 

This monitoring report for Executive Limitation Policy #2g “Communication & 
Support to the Board” is presented in accordance with the monitoring schedule 
set forth by the Board of Directors. I certify that the information contained in this 
report is true and represents compliance with a reasonable interpretation of all 
aspects of the policy unless specifically stated otherwise. 

 
 
Shane Symington  
President and CEO 
Wilfrid Laurier University Students’ Union 

October 11th, 2022 
 
(Board Policy is indicated in bold typeface throughout.) 
 
 
The President will not: 

1. Allow the Board to be without monitoring data required by the Board 
according to its policy “Monitoring Executive Performance” in a timely, 
accurate and understandable fashion, directly addressing provisions of 
the Board policies being monitored, and including the President’s 
interpretations consistent with the “Delegation to the President” policy, as 
well as relevant data. 

CEO INTERPRETATION 

I interpret “Be without monitoring data” as the President failing to present the 
Board with the required monitoring reports. 

I interpret “timely” as presenting monitoring reports at least 72 hours ahead of 
time unless otherwise approved by the CGO. 

I interpret “accurate, understandable, and directly addressing provisions of the 
Board policies being monitored” as a report that; 

1) Does not include and substantive errors which alter the Board’s ability to 
complete its task of monitoring the President; 

2) Uses consistent formatting as well as reasonable, clear and relevant 
evidence that supports the report; 



3) Uses operational definitions that relate to the appropriate interpretation 
and evidence that is clearly relatable to the operational definitions 
provided. 

 

OPERATIONAL DEFINITION 

A) All monitoring data is submitted to the Chair or the Board a minimum of 72 
hours prior to the beginning of the Board Meeting unless otherwise 
permitted by the Chair and CGO. 

B) The Data is complete and consistent with the policy requirements stated 
above. 

C) The Board has deemed the CEO interpretations reasonable. 
 

EVIDENCE 

1) All monitoring reports including evidence have followed the interpretation 
above and have been provided to the chair in a timely manner. 

 

I report this section as COMPLIANT 

 

2. Allow the Board to be unaware of any significant incidental information it 
requires including anticipated adverse media coverage, threatened or 
pending lawsuits and material external and internal changes. 
 

CEO INTERPRETATION 

I interpret “significant incidental information” as any material changes that 
occur within the operations of the Students’ Union which may, rightly or wrongly, 
compromise the integrity or the organization. 

I interpret “material external and internal changes” as any alteration, which 
changes the intended purpose that leads to having an impact on the Board’s 
ability to fulfill its mandate. 

OPERATIONAL DEFINITION 

Compliance will be demonstrated when: 

A) The President provides the Board with consistent, timely and relevant 
updates throughout the year. 

B) The President is consistently updating the Chair of the Board in imminent 
and immediate changes. 



 
EVIDENCE 

1) The President has kept the Board aware of operational proceedings with 
thorough updates at each board meeting. 
 

I report this section as COMPLIANT 
 

3. Allow the Board to be unaware of changes to, or creation of strategic 
projects, practices, or negotiations in a timely manner that may have a 
long term impact on the Organization. 
 

CEO INTERPRETATION 

I interpret “unaware” as having no knowledge of a situation or fact pertaining to 
ta potential long-term impact on the organization. 

I interpret “strategic projects” as projects that have significant short, 
intermediate and/or long-term implications for the organization and are 
focused on achieving outcomes relevant to the Ends and Strategic Plan of the 
Students’ Union. 

OPERATIONAL DEFINITION 

Compliance will be demonstrated when: 

A) The President makes the Board aware of, through regular monitoring and 
updates, all changes to, or creation of, strategic projects within the Students’ 
Union. 

EVIDENCE 

1) The Board has been regularly updated with Reports from the COO and 
CEO spanning all departments. 
 

I report this section as COMPLIANT 

 

4. Allow the Board to be unaware that, in the President's opinion, the Board is 
not in compliance with its own policies on Governance Process and 
Board-Management Delegation, particularly in the case of Board 
behavior, which is detrimental to the work relationship between the Board 
and President. 

 



 

CEO INTERPRETATION 

I interpret this policy statement to mean that the President must communicate 
to the Board either directly or through the CGO when they believe the Board 
may not be in compliance with its policies. This communication should be 
straightforward, respectful and timely. 

OPERATIONAL DEFINITION 

Compliance will be demonstrated when: 

A) The President communicates with the Chair of the Board and CGO where 
the actions of the board may place them in non-compliance with the 
Students’ Union policies in a timely manner should that become the case. 
 

EVIDENCE 

1. The President has read and understood the Board policies and through 
communication with the Chair has made the Board aware of any actions 
that are out of compliance. 

2. The President has informed the Board if they are interfering in operational 
decisions.  
 

I report this section as COMPLIANT 

 

5. Allow the Board to be without decision information required periodically 
by the Board or let the Board be unaware of relevant trends. 

CEO INTERPRETATION 

I interpret “decision information” as monitoring data, including all evidence that 
requires approval from the Board as well as information affecting the overall 
strategic position. 

I interpret “relevant trends” as any issues or updates from the Students’ Union or 
the University that would be useful for the Board to fulfill its mandate. 

OPERATIONAL DEFINITION 

Compliance will be demonstrated when: 

A) Sections 1 and 3 of this policy are in compliance. 
B) The President periodically updates the Board with departmental updates, 

or major initiatives (including university) when appropriate. 
EVIDENCE 



1) The appropriate sections (1 and 3) are in compliance. 
2) The President and Ed provide Board Updates with relevant department 

updates. 
 

I report this section as COMPLIANT 

 

6. Present information in unnecessarily complex or lengthy form or in a form 
that fails to differentiate among information of three types: monitoring, 
decision preparation, and other. 

CEO INTERPRETATION 

I interpret “unnecessarily complex or lengthy form” as evidence being 
presented in a way that is no more and no less than what is reasonably 
determined by the Board of Directors in order to complete their mandate.  

I interpret “monitoring” as information that is reporting on the compliance of the 
President using the Executive Limitations as set out by the Board. 

I interpret “Decision preparation” as information gathered and prepared with 
the purpose to use it as support in making a decision. 

I interpret “other” as all updates and information the President brings to the 
board outside of that required to fulfill mandates. 

OPERATIONAL DEFINITION 

Compliance will be demonstrated when: 

A) All information, monitoring and updates provided to the board are clear, 
complete and concise, as defined by the President’s interpretation of the 
material. 

B) The President makes further information available to allow Directors to 
better understand any outstanding issues. 

C) The President submits monitoring reports separate from any other 
proposals. 

EVIDENCE 

1. Evidence for monitoring reports have been provided where appropriate. 
2. The Board has not communicated that any reports or updates are 

unnecessarily lengthy.  
 

I report this section as COMPLIANT 

 



7. Allow the Board to be without a workable mechanism for official Board, 
Officer or Committee communications. 
 

CEO INTERPRETATION 

I Interpret “a workable mechanism” as accessible communication channels to 
connect with the President and the student body, including but not limited to, 
physical and electronic forms of communication. 

I interpret “official” as any Board-directed work whether from committees, the 
Board as a while or individually. 

OPERATIONAL DEFINITION 

Compliance will be demonstrated when: 

A) The board, representatives of committees, or board officers have access 
to all relevant resources in the organization to complete its 
communication tasks such as: 

a. Direct Communication Resources- including but not limited to; an 
email account, business cards, and access to the shared “J-Drive” 
through the Chair of the Board. 

b. Indirect Resources- including but not limited to; Students’ Union 
Rooms booking access, Board Minutes, access to basic office 
materials (photocopying, printing etc.) and the archiving or Board 
communications. 

EVIDENCE 

1) The President provides Directors with Outlook/Teams accounts. 
2) The President provides Directors and the Board with the above stated 

resources. 
3) In the event The President has been made aware of complications, he 

has acted in a manner to resolve said complications quickly.  
 

I report this section as COMPLIANT 

8. Deal with the Board in a way that favours or privileges certain Board 
members over others, except when: 

a. fulfilling individual requests for information; or 
b. responding to Officers or Committees duly charged by the Board 

 
CEO INTERPRETATION 

I interpret “favours or privileges” as treatment that one Board member may 
receive over another. Requests for information shall be delivered as long as they 
are reasonable in nature, regardless of who asked. Officers and Committees will 



be treated differently only on the grounds that the information may pertain to 
their specific mandate as decided on by the Board. 

OPERATIONAL DEFINITION 

Compliance will be demonstrated when: 

A) The Board does not formally communicate any challenges or grievances 
with the above interpretation. 

EVIDENCE 

1) The Board has not communicated any challenges or grievances. 

I report this section as COMPLIANT. 

 

9. Allow the Board to be unaware of any actual or anticipated 
noncompliance with any Ends or Executive Limitations policy of the Board 
regardless of the Board’s monitoring schedule. 

 
CEO INTERPRETATION 

I interpret this policy statement to mean that the President shall bring any 
instances of anticipated, or current non-compliance to the attention of the 
Board, as soon as it can be reasonably done.  Regardless of the submitted 
Monitoring Agenda, the President must be prepared to submit a report within a 
timeframe of at least 7 business days. 

OPERATIONAL DEFINITION 

Compliance will be demonstrated when: 

A) The Board is made aware of all instances of non-compliance prior to the 
Board meeting. 
 

EVIDENCE 

1) All instances of mon-compliance are communicated in the agenda 
package sent our prior to the Board Meeting. 

2) There have been no reports deemed non-compliant 
 

I report this section as COMPLIANT. 

 



10. Allow the Board to be without a consent agenda containing items 
delegated to the President yet required by law or contract to be Board-
approved, along with applicable monitoring information. 
 

CEO INTERPRETATION 

I interpret this policy statement to mean that the President must provide the 
Board with all consent agenda items based on the monitoring schedule set by 
the Board. This includes any additional relevant information. 

OPERATIONAL DEFINITION 

Compliance will be demonstrated when: 

A) The Board receives all consent agenda materials by the predetermined 
deadline. 

EVIDENCE 

1) The President has provided all monitoring reports in a timely matter, including 
any consent agenda items. 

 

I report this section as COMPLIANT. 

 

11. Allow the Board to be without any vital information pertaining to a change 
in status, tone, or temperament of any official negotiations or advocacy 
efforts. 
 

CEO INTERPRETATION 

I interpret “vital information” as data that is imperative to the decision making 
process. 

I interpret “change in status, tone or temperament” as a drastic change that 
could significantly impact the student body, the Board, the Students’ Union or 
any other important partner to the organization. 

I interpret “official negotiations or advocacy efforts” as the status of interactions 
with eternal partners that focus on providing solutions for students. 

OPERATIONAL DEFINITION 

Compliance will be demonstrated when: 



A) The Board is informed of any relevant information to any major 
negotiation or advocacy efforts that directly impact the Students’ Union. 

a. This includes but is not limited to the Operating Partners Agreement 
(OPA)  
 

EVIDENCE 

1) The board has been made aware of relevant advocacy efforts such as 
the Rally Against Gendered & Sexual Violence, and Municipal advocacy. 
 

I report this section as COMPLIANT. 

12. Contradict or interfere with the dissemination of any written organizational 
position to government or media from the Board as a whole or any 
director on behalf of the Board, unless said communication violates 
acceptable organizational standards of conduct, practice, regulations or 
policies. 
 

CEO INTERPRETATION  

I interpret this policy statement as the President will refrain from interfering with 
the communication efforts of the Board for government and media entities 
unless the purpose of the outreach is not in accordance to organizational norms 
or conduct, or against policies including duplicating the message of the 
operating body or showing bias while presenting information. 

OPERATIONAL DEFINITION 

Compliance will be demonstrated when: 

A) The Board as a whole is able to create and send out communications to 
government and media entities with the exclusion of the aforementioned 
occasions. 

B) The President will approach the board and properly communicate to 
them the reasoning behind any communication that is deemed not 
conductive to organizational norms of conduct and policies. 
 

EVIDENCE 

1) There have been no communication pieces that have been sent out to 
the mentioned parties by the Board. 
 

I report this section as COMPLIANT. 

 



13. Operate without providing reports to the Board on any current and/or 
outstanding capital projects with budgets over $10,000 up to and upon 
their completion.  

a. Quarterly reports prior to the implementation phase of the project. 
b. Monthly reports beginning at the implementation phase of the 

project. 
 

CEO INTERPRETATION 

I interpret this policy statement as being transparent with the Board regarding 
any current or outstanding capital projects with budgets over $10,000.  

I interpret “providing reports” as ensuring that clear and understandable 
updates and data is accessible to all members of the Board at the time is 
requested or as outlined in the above policy statement. 

OPERATIONAL DEFINITION 

Compliance will be demonstrated when: 

A) The President provides reports on capital expenditures over $10,000 to the 
Board that follows subsection (a) and (b) of EL#2g-13. 
 

EVIDENCE 

1) All capital expenditures over $10,000 have been brought to the board 
(eg. DX System, Hospitality refresh) 

I report this section as COMPLIANT 

14. Allow the Board to the without a formal report on the progress of the 
Strategic Plan at the end of each fiscal year. 
 

CEO Interpretation 

I interpret “formal report” as a document prepared by the President available to 
the student body and presented to the Board. 

I interpret “progress” as the actions the Students’ Union has taken over the fiscal 
year to incorporate the Strategic Plan. 

OPERATIONAL DEFINITION 

Compliance will be demonstrated when: 

A) The President provides the progress of the Strategic Plan to the Board in 
period 12 or 13. 



EVIDENCE 

This will be completed in period 12 or 13 as per the monitoring schedule. 

I report this section as COMPLIANT. 

Global Policy Statement: 

The President may not permit the Board to be uninformed or unsupported in its 
work. 

CEO INTERPRETATION 

I interpret “uninformed” as the Board not having access to the information 
required to successfully monitor the President and strategically direct the 
Students’ Union. 

I interpret “unsupported” as the Board not having the materials and assistance 
required to successfully monitor the President and strategically direct the 
Students’ Union. 

OPERATIONAL DEFINITION 

Compliance will be demonstrated when: 

A) All sections of EL#2g are in compliance. 
EVIDENCE 

1) All sections of EL#2g are in compliance. 
I report this section as COMPLIANT. 

 



 

Executive Limitation #2n “Hiring Practices – Paid Staff” 

 

This monitoring report for Executive Limitation Policy #2n “Hiring Practices – Paid 

Staff” is presented in accordance with the monitoring schedule set forth by the 

Board of Directors. I certify that the information contained in this report is true and 

represents compliance with a reasonable interpretation of all aspects of the 

policy unless specifically stated otherwise. 

 

Shane Symington 

President and CEO 

Wilfrid Laurier University Students’ Union 
 
October 11th, 2022 

 

 

(Board Policy is indicated in bold typeface throughout.) 
 
 

The President will not: 
 

1. Operate without up-to-date written hiring procedures that outline a 

well- defined and widely recognized practice. 

 

CEO INTERPRETATION 

 

I interpret “up-to-date” as frequently revised and reviewed within the past fiscal 

year. 

 

I interpret “well-defined and widely recognized” as practices that consistently 

used in the industry or market or organizations of similar size, purpose and 

structure. 
 

OPERATIONAL DEFINITION 

 

Compliance will be demonstrated when: 

 

A) Paid hiring practices are reviewed by the President, Executive Director, 

and HR Generalist, once every twelve (12) months. 

B) Hiring policies and practices are well-researched and represent common 

practice when compared to organization of similar size and structure 

 

 



 

EVIDENCE 

 

1) Appendix A: Paid Hiring Policies and Procedures. 
 

I report this section as COMPLIANT. 

 
 

2. Operate without controls in place that protect the applicant’s privacy. 

 

CEO INTERPRETATION 

 

I interpret this policy to mean that there are mechanisms which are designed to 

ensure information of applicants for volunteer or staff positions is kept secure and 

confidential and only accessed by those involved in the hiring process. 
 

OPERATIONAL DEFINITION 

 

Compliance will be demonstrated when: 

 

A) Internal privacy procedures are followed relative to access to applicant 

information. 

B) There are no complaints of breaches in applicant privacy and 

confidentiality. 

 

EVIDENCE 

 

1) Appendix B: Interview Preamble 2022 

2) Appendix C: Confidentiality Clause in Employment Contract 
 

I report this section as COMPLIANT. 

 
 

3. Operate without controls in place to prevent nepotism and other 

wrongful conditions. 

 

CEO INTERPRETATION 

 

I interpret “nepotism” as the intentional or unintentional influence a power 

position may have over hiring regarding relatives, friends and acquaintances.  

I interpret “other wrongful conditions” as circumstances that make the hiring 

process inequitable, unfair or biased towards one applicant.  

 

OPERATIONAL DEFINITION 



 

 

Compliance will be demonstrated when: 

 

A) There are practices and policies in place that prevent nepotism and other 

wrongful conditions. 

B) The President intervenes if these cases arise. 

 

EVIDENCE 

1) Appendix A: Paid Hiring Policies and Procedures 
 

I report this section as COMPLIANT. 

 
 

4. Allow openings to be filled without an open and accessible posting. 

 

CEO INTERPRETATION 

 

I interpret this policy statement as facilitating an open and accessible hiring 

process for all paid staff, which will allow for any and all applicants to apply 

based on experience. 

 

OPERATIONAL DEFINITION 

 

Compliance will be demonstrated when: 

 

A) All paid staff hiring is done using an accessible and open job posting. 

B) No Students’ Union employee is hired without going through the necessary 

procedure aforementioned without the Board’s consent. 

 

EVIDENCE 

 

1)  Any and all available job postings are available to everyone via the 

Students’ Union website 

2) Board was consulted on and subsequently approved of expediting the 

hiring of the Director of Strategic Initiatives position 
 

I report this section as COMPLIANT. 

 

 

 

 
 

5. Allow openings to be filled without student input on the hiring process. 



 

 

 

CEO INTERPRETATION 

 

I interpret “student input” as student representation including but not limited to 

student executive on each hiring committee with the exclusion of the Hospitality 

Services Department. 
 

OPERATIONAL DEFINITION 

 

Compliance will be demonstrated when: 

 

A) There is student executive representation or student appointed 

representation on the hiring committees for paid positions, excluding 

Hospitality services. 

a. Hospitality Service hiring is excluded from this policy statement from 

having physical representation. However the President, who is a 

member of the Student Executive is consulted. 

 

EVIDENCE 

 

1)  Appendix A: Paid Hiring Policies and Procedures  
 

I report this section as COMPLIANT. 

 
 

6. Allow an opening to be filled without a consistent and equitable process. 

 

CEO INTERPRETATION 

 

I interpret “a consistent and equitable process” as a hiring practice that is the 

same for each applicant for a position in terms of treatment and processes, 

unless accessibility accommodations need to be provided. 
 

OPERATIONAL DEFINITION 

 

Compliance will be demonstrated when: 

 

A) There are policies in place that outline the procedures for the hiring of all 

paid staff. 

B) All applicants are vetted using the same hiring process. 

 

 



 

EVIDENCE 

 

1)  Appendix A: Paid Hiring Policies and Procedures 
 

I report this section as COMPLIANT. 

 
 

7. Allow conflicts of interest in the hiring process to go undeclared. 

 

CEO INTERPRETATION 

 

I interpret conflicts of interest as personal relationships that could positively or 

negatively bias hiring decisions.  

I interpret this policy statement as the hiring manager or other interviewees in 

any given situation failing to inquire or disclose any conflicts of interest before 

the process begins or at any time throughout the process. 

 

OPERATIONAL DEFINITION 

 

Compliance will be demonstrated when: 

 

A) There is ample opportunity made aware for every member of the hiring 

committee to come forward regarding a conflict of interest. 

B) The President intervenes and re-allocated the hiring committee based on 

the conflicts of interest. 

 

EVIDENCE 

1)  Appendix A: Paid Hiring Policies and Procedures  

 

I report this section as COMPLIANT. 

 

 
 

Global Policy Statement: 
 

With respect to the hiring of paid staff, the President shall not allow conditions 

that are unfair, biased, or ambiguous. 

 

CEO INTERPRETATION 

 

I interpret “unfair” as conditions that treat some or all applicants inequitably or 

unethically and favours others in a biased manner. 

 



 

I interpret “biased” as conditions that give some applicants advantage or 

disadvantage over others based on perceptions, judgments, prejudices, 

opinions and/or values. 

 

I interpret “ambiguous” as hiring conditions that are up for interpretations by the 

applicant or hiring committee and not specific, resulting in them being unclear 

altogether. 
 

OPERATIONAL DEFINITION 

 

Compliance will be demonstrated when: 

 

A) All sections of EL#2n are in compliance 

 

EVIDENCE 

 

1. All sections of EL#2n are in compliance 

 
 

I report this section as COMPLIANT. 
 

  



 

APPENDIX A  

 

 

PAID STAFF HIRING PROCESS 
 
Revised: January 15 2018 

 

The Wilfrid Laurier University Students’ Union is committed to recruiting, compensating, 

developing and retaining a highly motivated, competent and qualified team of 

employees who share, with the Board of Directors, the goal of contributing towards 

achieving the objectives of the Students’ Union. 

The Students’ Union confirms that all human resource policies will be implemented 

consistently. Furthermore, it commits to equality among its employees for 

employment without discrimination, in addition to equitable treatment to its 

employees and 

applicants. 

 
The process in which the Students’ Union follows when hiring paid staff members is 

outlined below: 

 Post each position for a minimum of five (5) business days; 

 Must interview a minimum of three (3) people whenever possible; 

 Hiring panel must consist of a minimum of three ( 3) people whenever possible: 

o One ( 1) hired student: includes any Hiring and Recruitment volunteer, part - time, or 

full -time staff member who paid Wilfrid Laurier University student fees in the school 

year  of which the interview is taking place, or Student Executive ; 

o One ( 1) supervisor from the department that the position reports under; and 

o Either one (1) other person from the department that the position reports 

under, or the Human Resources Generalist . 

 Any conflicts of interest for the hiring panel must be declared prior to the interview 

process , as well as be brought to the attention of the Human Resources Generalist, in 

addition to the Executive Director and/ or President; 

o In the case of any perceived and/or actual conflicts of interest, the Executive 

Director and/or President can adjust the composition of the hiring panel.  

 Positions requiring written proposals are to be marked by all members of the hiring panel 

and used as a determinant of which/how many applicants are granted interviews. 

o The average of the hiring panel’s proposal scores must lie above 70% in order to be 

granted interviews, unless the hiring panel unanimously decides otherwise. 

o In the event of a high number of applications scoring over 70%, the interview 

threshold may be adjusted to 20 points below the highest mark at the discretion of 



 

the hiring panel 

o The hiring panel has the right to decline a candidate based on documented 

behavioural concerns from the Students’ Union or Student Affairs Department. 

 All interviewed applicants must be given the Human Resources Generalist contact 

information for feedback purposes ; 

 All interviewed applicants must be given a timeline as to when they will be notified  of 

successful candidacy, in addition to if, and when, they will be notified of 

unsuccessful candidacy; 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 Human Resources Generalist must be notified of successful candidate immediately 

following the completion of the interview process to draft an offer to the preferred 

candidate; 

 No announcement will be made to staff (or otherwise) until the signed contract is 

received, and no information will be released about any of the applicants , 

interviewees or the successful candidate without consent of that individual. 

 

  



 

APPENDIX B 

 

 

APPENDIX C 

 

 

 



   
 
 

Executive Director & COO 
President & CEO 

 Tuesday, November 1, 2022 
 
 

1. Government & Stakeholder Relations 
 

a. Municipal election promotion had positive student engagement (Brantford: Elections 101 BF290 
Credit. Waterloo: Coffee with the Candidates) 

b. OUSA GA. Laurier authorship team to publish Student Entrepreneurship, Employment and 
Employability paper by November 

c. Developing consultations for Local Advocacy Week preparation (seeking board involvement for 
January 2023) 
 
 

2. Programming & Services Brantford 
 

a. Foot Patrol doing walk and drives home (currently being used by an average of 5 students per 
night, comparable to pre covid numbers) 

b. FoodBank running food education and food bank awareness events weekly, giving snacks to 
students walking to class. 

c. Committees supporting the Brantford Campuses Health and Wellness Month (Pancake 
Breakfast, Trivia, Tinder Tales comedy Show, Self care night) 

d. Esports tournament early November with the Athletics and Rec department. 
e. Improving the volunteer experience from our essential services and encourage more leadership 

opportunities for new and non executive volunteers. 
 
 

3. Programming & Services Waterloo 
 

a. Health and Wellness Month – beginning November 1st! Over 50 events from the Students’ Union 
and Laurier campus partners.  

b. Foot Patrol extended hours 
i. Monday-Thursday: 6:30pm-1:30am 
ii. Friday-Sunday: 9:30pm-1:30am 

c. Foot Patrol will be hiring a new coordinator for the Winter 2023 term 
i. I knew of this situation since the summer as current coordinator graduates at the end of 

the Fall 2022 term. 
d. Emergency Response Team members have all successfully completed their first responder 

certification. The team is still bookable for events on-campus! 
e. Continued partnership with Laurier recreation for continuing intramural tournaments and 

following Wilf’s nights for students 
 
 

4. Clubs & Associations 
 

a. Clubs & Associations events and activities are in full swing!  



i. Approximately 200 events have been hosted by clubs and associations since the start of 
the Fall term. 

b. Presence (provider of “The Nest” platform) technology issues that took place throughout the last 
few weeks have been resolved. The Clubs Department is working to catch up now that The 
Nest is back up and running.  

c. New Club Registration period was opened early for Brantford students to encourage club 
activity on campus. NCR is set to open in the coming weeks for ALL students (exact dates 
TBD). 

i. Projection of New Club Registration applications: 20 across both campuses 
 
 

5. Financial & Volunteer Operations 
 

a. Hiring will be closing mid-November for the majority of volunteer positions to give our team 
enough time to wrap them up before December.  

b. We are currently appraising our volunteers and providing feedback on their performance for the 
past semester. 

c. We are currently marking apps for the Brand Manager and Facilities Manager. 

 

6. Student Experience 
 

a. A new LED Sign has been installed and is functional on the front of the FNCC 
b. Working on budget allocation input for faculty associations 
c. Developing a new plan for turret and hawk’s nest events. Inclusive of catering, room setup etc. 

i. Meg Bagley is the primary contact for booking those spaces 
d. Team is planning and implementing several programs and events across both campuses 

 
 

7. Policy, Research & Advocacy  
 

a. Coordinating an ongoing operational policy review; 
i. Updating existing policies and identifying any relevant policy gaps in coordination with 

the Executive Leadership Team and Operations Group. 
b. Supported the Government and Stakeholder Relations department preparation for the Ontario 

Undergraduate Student Alliance’s (OUSA) Fall General Assembly; 
c. Attended the Laurier Institute for the Student of Public Opinion and Policy Housing Forum, and 

Academica’s Student Housing Panel. 
d. Working on messaging in preparation for a potential contract faculty work stoppage; 
e. Ongoing research and monitoring of post-secondary education issues and trends.  

 
 

8. Finance & Administration 
 

a. The SU has received most of the funding from fees for the Fall semester.  This includes our 
H&D premiums. 

b. Our Facilities Admin position has been reposted and we hope to fill this job in the next few 
weeks. 

c. Table tops and chairs have been successfully replace in Wilfs.  The funding for this came from 
the Board approved Capital refresh project for the restaurant. 

 
 

9.  Marketing Communications 
 



a. Working with HR to book interviews with candidates for Brand Identity Manager over the 
upcoming weeks  

b. Seeing great success with our new campuslife IG accounts in promotions of campus specific 
events & initiatives this term; campuslifebrantford: 1.074 followers, campuslifewaterloo: 2,468 
followers 
Opportunities to utilize individual accounts for campus specific election events, especially to first 
year students.  

c. Digital Signage is up and running in the Fred Nichols Campus Centre (outside WIlf’s, 
Concourse, Terrace), and Brantford campus, as well as installation of signage outside FNCC, 
increasing areas of offline promotion of SU events across both campuses. Focusing on 
marketing strategy in these high traffic areas, especially for election awareness. 
 
 

10. Member Services 
 

a. Continuing to tidy up loose ends from the Fall Health and Dental Plan opt out and family opt in 
period. 

b. Looking at service model for SU Desk Waterloo for the Winter term.  May move to shortened 
hours.  Will conduct part-time staff evaluations for Waterloo and Brantford SU Desk staff at the 
end of term 

c. Assisting with Administration and HR portolios as needed 
 
 

11. Strategic Initiatives 
 

a. Examining the evolution of Food Bank services on both campuses focusing on high level 
strategic visioning and future delivery. 

b. Developing best practices/policy documents relating to Artist Solicitation and Sponsorship for 
the organization. 

c. Reviewing Hospitality services in Brantford including scope and delivery. 
 

 
 
**More information related to reports/briefs can be provided at the Board’s request** 
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Board Members Present 

Chair Francesco Del Giudice, Vice Chair Blake Phillips, President Shane Symington, Director 
Mohammad Abu-Rshaid, Director Nicholas Betivoiu, Director Zachary Goodwin, Director 
Emma Murphy, Director Nicholas Betivoiu, Director Nur Elmasri, Michel LeClair,  
 
Staff Present 
Director of Policy, Research & Advocacy Ian Muller; Executive Director Phil Champagne, 
Director of Finance & Administration Chris Turner 
 

1. Call to Order and Indigenous Land Acknowledgement 
 
Chair Del Giudice: Good evening, everybody, thank you, thank you all for coming out tonight. 
I would like to call this meeting to order. We acknowledge the traditional territory of the Neutral, 
Anishnawbe, and Haudenosaunee peoples.  
 

2. Regrets 
 
Chair Del Giudice: Have not received any regrets. However, there are three directors who are 
not present.  
 

3. Adoption of the Agenda 
 
Motion # 1: Adoption of Agenda (Philips/Abu-Rshaid) 
Vote: Unanimous  
Result: Motion Pass 
 

4. Fred Nichols Campus Centre Air Handling Discussion 
 
Chair Del Giudice: We will go to the Fred Nichols Campus Centre Air Handling Infrastructure 
discussion. Chris, you can take it away. 
 
DF&A Turner: Yeah, thanks everyone for moving this up for me that’s greatly appreciated. 
Last time we met I was to take away a couple of questions from the board to facilities and assets 
management staff and I have those responses. The first question was around, could we not with 
the new air handling system start the chilling, earlier in the year and leave it on later in year. If 
we didn’t go with the dx solution to therefore minimize the uncomfortable periods, the response I 
got from them to that one was no given that the new system that they would want to put in place, 
again, I don’t know the technical reasons, but they just said it would not have the capabilities to  
 
allow them to change it over earlier and later and that they would need to stay with the same 
cycle that they have in place now. So that was response to that question. The second question 
which is I think a little bit more important for this group. Tonight, I was tasked with asking them  
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is there any movement on the $60 000 that would cost to do the analysis and planning phase, the 
response that I got to that one was actually no and in fact the $60 000 does not include 
disbursements, contingency and tax so we’re actually looking at a total for the planning phase 
probably closer to 75000, depending on the contingencies involved? And then the other piece to 
that was that, say we went ahead with the planning phase, we spent the $75, 000, and then at the 
end of that was whatever response they came back to us and said, and then at that point we said 
no we don’t think we’d like to move forward on the actual installation of the DX system so we’ll 
leave it at that. I was informed there would then actually be additional costs that we would be 
responsible for because they would have to then change the planning for the building back to a 
non-DX system implementation of the air chillers. So that would cost a bit more money due to 
the rework needed on their end. They had no idea what that actually would be so I can’t even 
comment to that but it would be a few thousand dollars, at least, so original approval from the 
board, which I guess has to be re-voted on anyway because of the lack of quorum last time, said 
to move ahead at cost of $60 000. So tonight, the additional information is that we’re actually 
looking at cost, probably, roughly, again, I don’t know for sure in the neighbourhood of $15 000 
more to that closer to $75 000, and then the second piece after that planning is done, if we don’t 
want to move ahead with the actual construct installation of the DX system, there would be 
additional cost to rework the planning. So, a significant more initial cost from our perspective 
than the $60, 000 plan from last week, nothing other than that has changed. We did get word that 
the actual implementation if we said go ahead. They still don’t even know what that would be 
because they would have to figure out how they’re going to afford the air handlers to begin with 
and the chillers, so even if we did go ahead with this planning, when it would be implemented is 
up in the air right now. So, I’ll open it up for any questions or discussion at this point.   
 
Vice Chair Philips:  Yeah, so just to clarify on the first question that you had answered from 
them. So, we would not be able to turn on the air conditioning during the fringe months, even if 
we had installed the system? 
 
DF&A Turner: If we install the system, we would be able to run it during those months, what 
my comment was, was that could we avoid installing that DX system and just turn on the chillers 
earlier the like just move it up, two weeks earlier and leave it on two weeks earlier, without the 
DX system so it’s kind of a compromise solution that it doesn’t give us full control during all of 
the shoulder seasons, but at least it gives us a bit wider of a window, so if we didn’t go with the 
DX be as bad and that’s what they said no to, they said no, we still have to stick to the original 
schedule of not turning it on until June.  
 
Vice Chair Philips:  know if I missed. That was one of the bigger benefits I think we had agreed 
upon, at the last board meeting, and from the sounds of it at least from my perspective with 
increased costs and a lot of unknown variables with the cost of actual installation itself. It doesn’t 
really seem responsible at this point to move forward this planning phase, it seems kind of all 
over the place and the lot of money like that I don’t know if I’m super comfortable just giving, 
giving that away for something we’re not it sounds like there’s a lot up in the air, they don’t even 
really know. Those are my two cents on the matter. 
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Director Murphy:  I also agree with that I feel like it is a little bit too up in the air for us to kind 
of go forward with it because worse comes to worse we do go forward with it and then they can’t 
do it and we’re out all of that money when we already kind of had doubts about it and it was kind 
of a long discussion, if that makes sense? 
 
Chair Del Giudice: Okay, is there any further questions, any further proper discussion? Director 
Abu-Rshaid? 
 
Director Abu-Rshaid: Actually, I’d like to hear from the CEO first before I ask my question. 
 
Vice Chair Philips: I was just going to say, like when we were kind of talking about this in 
August before the August board meeting, but even operationally we don’t actually have a 
recommendation here, it was, I kind of pushed it forward as a brief to have it as a discussion 
because well it is horrifically expensive for a lot of unknowns at this point, it’s never going to be 
cheaper than this. So, I just however, the board wants goes with this like I don’t think there’s a 
really a strong opinion one way or the other. So don’t feel any kind of operational pressure that 
we desperately need you to vote one way or the other. 
 
Chair Del Giudice: Okay, go ahead Director Abu-Rshaid. 
 
Director Abu-Rshaid: Yeah, actually I wanted to ask like what’s the, what’s the advice from 
operations, because obviously this is going to impact, you know, like the operation overseeing 
right in the, in the shoulder months, so I honestly don’t feel one way or another, I feel like it’s 
quite expensive. Again, as the other directors and as the other director of the vice chair have 
noted, there’s a lot of a lot of up in the air for a very large sum of money. I would ponder to think 
how much. What else we could use, what more value, can we use the money for. If it’s not really 
necessary. And also, sorry, I did have one question I didn’t want to ask; but where would this be 
getting funded from? Is this basically all students, paying for it is that or is it just the Waterloo 
campus, that’s basically contributing to the cost right so 
 
DF&A Turner: I can I can tackle that question so it wouldn’t, if we did go ahead with the 
installation of the DX system after that we pay the initial design phase money. So, we’re looking 
at, you know, 75, 000 for design, approximately 450 for the actual DX installation so we’re over 
half a million dollars. We wouldn’t go specifically to the students and ask for an additional fee to 
support that cost. Probably that would just come out of cash reserves that we have in the bank 
right now or we would set aside some money over the next year that we would potentially 
otherwise use for something else for this purpose, and it would just come from our general funds 
which is kind of, we don’t specifically set aside or have money, waterloo or Brantford specific 
out of our general funds, so it would just come out that common pot of money. And the other 
point, I just wanted to add to that, too, was that if, if we don’t go ahead with this DX system 
which as I said would ultimately be over half a million dollars in cost anyway. The university is  
still at some point in the next few years going to move ahead with the replacement of the air 
handling units and the chillers, which is a multi-million-dollar project and they’re going to come 
to Phil and I and whoever the president is at that point as ask us to contribute, our share so that,  
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so we will all be on the hook for something because of our operating agreement that we have 
with the university for the Fred Nichols building. So, there will be money going out the door at 
some point so and again, it could be a quite substantial amount. So, I just wanted the board to be 
aware that. 
 
Vice Chair Philips: and to your point as well Phil about the venue, it’s not necessarily a cheaper 
for the system the way that I understand the reason we’re considering this is because the 
university’s moving ahead with this, this particular organization that’s facilitating this, if we 
decide we don’t want to do right now because of all the unknowns regarding cost and how this is 
going to play out over the next couple of years. And it’s just something we still do, do think it’s 
valuable to students, maybe something we can shop around for a little bit more. But we decided 
Peter we want to do this. You know, that’s a might be cheaper than it is right now per se but 
maybe a little more clarity or more of a plan that would make me feel a lot better about spending 
student dollars. And right now, I just feel, I feel uncomfortable doing so. 
 
Chair Del Giudice: Personally, I completely agree with vice chair, I think that there’s just too 
many unknowns, too much too many ambiguities at this point. I think we have to ice this for a 
little bit. So, we can explore options a little bit more and more information comes. Yeah, so, 
Director Abu-Rshaid go ahead.  
 
Director Abu-Rshaid: I am echoing the vice chairs comments, and the other note that 
eventually this the university will have to upgrade its air handling units. I’d like to come, I guess, 
to compromise, knowing that the university will be in the future. And we will essentially have to 
be compelled to upgrading with them. I would like the university to be as Vice Chair noted a 
shop around, see if we can get more definitive answers or better value that’s number one. And 
number two, if this is going to be a multi year. If this is going to take, I’d say maybe like a 
couple of years as, as well as I mentioned, why not instead to just allocate money every year 
towards this, this future expense. I’m sorry I thought about $100 000, this fiscal year hundred 
thousand next fiscal year, and hundred thousand like the fiscal year after that so that we build a 
special account. She asked for this and if a bit of inevitability because spending half a million 
dollars is a big deal, especially, especially for students, and I don’t feel particularly compelled to 
do this, like right the second. So, I’d like to kind of throw out the idea of potentially saving 
money over a couple years, so that future board is not is not encumbered with a massive bill, at 
the time. 
 
DF&A Turner: Sure. So that’s something over, for those of you that were on the board last 
year, you may recall that at different times during the year and over the last few years we’ve 
come forward to the board with what our plans were for any surplus cash that we have, sitting in 
the bank account, and typically over the past few years we’ve put some money into a capital 
reserve for these types of situations so that absolutely would be something that we will, in the  
presence of any surplus funds we will continue to do that. Moving forward because even if it 
wasn’t for this air handler and chillers project there’s always something that comes up. That we 
will need to set money aside for, given this I don’t feel how old this building is now but it’s not  
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cheap to look after and it’s not modernized in any sense so there will always be something that 
we need to spend money on what this building,  
 
Chair Del Giudice: I’m getting a sentiment from the board that this is something that we want 
to talk a little bit until more options come through. So, unless there are any more comments or 
questions. I have a motion on the table to pause this, how do I word this too? To pauses this 
conversation until more information becomes more available to us, and until, until we are more 
clear about the direction of this project. Vice chair Phillips? 
 
Motion # 2: Pause the Fred Nichols Campus Centre Air Handling Infrastructure Discussion 
(Phillips/ LeClair) 
Vote:  
 
Mohammad Abu-Rshaid: Can we add an amendment to the motion to, let’s say, save $100 000 
a year until for this specific project.  
 
Chair Del Giudice: Okay sure we can add that onto there, so, would you like to speak about 
your motions? Any further discussion on the matter? 
 
PR&A Muller: Sorry, sorry to interrupt you even need a motion to amend the original motion if 
you want to go that route.  
 
Chair Del Giudice: Okay. So, we have a motion on the table to preserve conversation on this 
project and so for details and further direction is provided. And to reserve 100 000 thousand 
dollars year for the project.  
 
Motion # 2 Vote to Amend (Phillips/Murphy)  
Vote: 10-0-0 
Result:  Pass 
 
Chair Del Giudice: So onwards to our next agenda.  
 
PR&A Muller: Sorry, sorry to interrupt you, you still need to vote on the motion you’ve 
successfully amended the motion now you have to vote on the amended motion. You only 
approved the amended motion. 
Chair Del Giudice:  Okay, are there… 
 
PR&A Muller: So, the most the motions already, you know, it’s already been motion in second 
didn’t know that you know you can just proceed to vote on the amended motion 
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Vice Chair Phillips: But that’s a quick point of clarification. How does voting procedure work 
in the boardroom, with a hybrid model. Different where we just to prove you just do not say 
anything.  
 
PR&A Muller: Good, good question, we’ve neve really done it before. So, we can really make 
that decision in real time. 
 
Chair Del Giudice: Let’s go back to the old way of doing it.  
 
Motion # 2: Pause the Fred Nichols Campus Centre Air Handling Infrastructure Discussion 
(Phillips/ LeClair) 
Vote: Unanimous  
Result:  Pass 
 

5. Adoption of the Consent Agenda  
 
Motion # 3 Adoption of the Consent Agenda (LeClair/Murphy) 
Vote: Unanimous 
Result: Pass 
 

6. Conflicts of Interest 
 
None 

 
7. Approval of the Meeting Minutes  

 
Motion # 4 Approval of Meeting Minutes July 11 2022 (Elmasri/Phillips) 
Vote: 10-0-0 
Result: Pass 
 
 
Chair Del Giudice: Next, we have the approval of meeting minutes of August 22, 2022. So, this 
is a question, I have a question for either executive here because the meeting did not meet 
quorum. Are there any limitations on including the minutes?  
 
PR&A Muller: Sorry can you repeat the question? 
 
Chair Del Giudice: So, since the meeting was not held at quorum and a lot of things that we did, 
couldn’t be passed through, do we still approve these minutes or do we have to go through a 
special process for them, or do we treat them like any other meeting? 
 
PR&A Muller: The August minutes? 
 
Chair Del Giudice: Yeah 
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PR&A Muller: Yeah, you would still approve them so that way you have a record of what was 
discussed at the meeting regardless of it was quorum and then if someone was looking back, they 
would be able to refer to the minutes of this meeting to show that the board readdressed the 
matters that it had previously approved so its like it shows you recognizing the error and then 
correcting the error. 
 
Chair Del Giudice: Okay, so can I have a motion on the table to approve the meeting minutes 
from August 22, 2022 board meeting 
 
Motion # 5 Approval of the Meeting Minutes August 22, 2022 
Vote: Unanimous 
Result: Pass 
 

8. Comments from the Chair of the Board & CGO 
 
 
Chair Del Giudice: Onwards to the comments from the Chair of the Board and CGO. Firstly, I 
would like to, give a congratulations to Clarissa who is our new board secretary, she was hired 
over this past summer. We look forward working with you and look forward to a great year. 
Secondly, I’d like to speak on attendance to board meetings. As I said at the last board meeting, 
please let me know if you cannot make a board meeting, it’s very important, you know this job is 
very important, you were all elected for it. So, please let me know if you cannot make a board 
meeting and if you need accommodations or help from us, if you have conflicts with courses, 
works, just reach out to myself, the vice chair or any of our executives and we will be happy to 
help you out. O’ Week went very well, I was boothing with some directors, so thank you very 
much for all of you who came out, and helped me out with the boothing, it went very very well. 
People, people are very interested in running for the election in the winter term. So, thank you 
very much for coming out to that. And that’s all on my end. So, so we will go to the comments 
from the President and the CEO. 
 

9. Comments from the President & CEO 
 
President Symington: Thank you Frankie. So, as you may or may not know, O’ Week just came 
and went. And saw, in my opinion, a lot of success. So, student engagement was really, really 
phenomenal on all fronts, we saw a great turn out our open ceremonies on both campuses. We 
saw a great turn out on our daytime programming on both campuses. Both get involved fairs had 
a lot of engagement. Nighttime programming as well, even on the Sunday, Sunday or Monday 
night we had Bingo with Twain and Turrid, and Twain used to host Bingo at Wilkes back then. 
He was a VP, but a lot of students, like whole generation of students have come and gone. No 
one knows what Twain is anymore and we still have like 450 people up in the Turrid at one 
point. So, in terms of students being not only there, but participating and engaging with what we 
are offering, all signs point to really good. In terms of the volunteer experience, we, I think we 
had head ICE’s, our O team, our GO Team all our volunteers and seemed like they engaged 
really well and had a really good time, with the breaking experience. The story I had I kind of  
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recounted today, in our meeting was last, for this year when we were trying to recruit breakers 
during summer, one of my vp’s was asking a couple of students who were on their cheerleading 
team to come back and do ice breaking again, and they had done it in years prior and specifically 
last year they said they didn’t enjoy the experience, so they weren’t willing to come back; versus 
this year where we had breakers out even on Saturday at the football game, and students in the 
crowd were reaching out to breakers asking how can we get involved, how can we be ice 
breakers tomorrow? We got them in training, and they were breaking the ball. So, I think that 
does a really good job for setting the foundation for next year, so we can have, more and more 
O’ Week volunteers helping to open those opportunities up, or more hopefully that provides us 
with an opportunity to build upon the programming we offer on O’ Week. Also, the director 
Abu-Rshaid point, both campus live pages are seeing pretty tremendous success. I know the 
Waterloo page is at over 2200 followers on Instagram. They build the exact purpose we wanted 
it to with respect to being that platform for students to be able to figure out what is going on in 
O’ Week and it worked in a campus specific lens, so there was no confusion there. So, now we 
are able to move forward, kind of building it out more towards the general student populace. 
Yeah, and I think another final note there on O’ Week, I was really happy with my team’s  
involvement, my team was able to go down for the Brantford get involved fair, we were down 
for opening ceremonies, or I was down for opening ceremonies on Monday, we were also down 
on Tuesday, for Wayne Hoffman, we also were able to get down there for closing ceremonies as 
well. I really feel like we are hitting that point home of actually being like a true multi-campus 
team, which might not have been the case in years prior, whether it be as a result of covid, or just 
not seeing that as a need. So, I am really happy with how we are kind of staying true to our word 
there, and being conscious of that multi-campus lens, and now we look forward to the rest of 
September which is quickly passing us by, and I think the biggest thing for me next is the 
gendered-sexual violence rally on September 22.  
 
Director Abu-Rshaid: I have a quick question for the president and I would like their opinion. 
For the massive success we have had on O’ Week, would you be interested in finding some key 
players and volunteers who did a fantastic job. I think it would be greatly appreciated from them 
if we gave them a nice small accommodation from the board. I think thanking those who made 
this fantastic success will bring more success further to come, so, do you have an idea? 
 
President Symington: I’ll keep that in mind, I know we’re working to plan a volunteer 
appreciation event at the end of September, both on the Brantford and Waterloo campus, that is 
intended to bring all the orientation week volunteers back together and allow them to have that 
space to celebrate that success. So, I will bring that to the vp in charge of that Liam Chapin and I 
will bring it up to him, I’m sure he will appreciate that. 
 
Director Abu-Rshaid: Yeah, I just want, I just think it would be a really nice touch if we give 
them a nice thank you from the board because they, again, it was a fantastic success. 
 
Vice-Chair Phillips: So, quick question for you, during the getting involved fair obviously there 
was a SU clubs organized out front here, and there was faculty specific just down the way past 
the McDonald’s house, and then over one more in front of blue cart were external organizations  
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that had come in: Cineplex, Hudson’s Bay, and there was a third one as well with tents, and then 
further past that as well outside of Bricker residence where the Greek Life organizations, and I 
was wondering how the SU came to the decision to put sponsored external organizations that are 
looking to find students as customers in front of these student organizations that engage students 
on campus? 
 
President Symington: So, my involvement with the discussion of having Greek Life involved, 
basically having Greek Life involved ended up having Greek Life involved. In terms of the  
layout that’s set for getting involved fairs, that is a director of student experience question, which 
is Rachael Allen question. So, I’m not, I wasn’t involved in those discussion, I was just actually 
involved in getting Greek Life through the door. 
 
PR&A Muller:  Again, I don’t really have a good answer for that question, I didn’t know that 
until just now, I did walk around but I didn’t walk around the entirety of the campus, and I know 
the layout and the space allocation here is particularly compromised with what’s going down on 
the east end of campus, sorry, but we can definitely follow up and have that conversation, we can 
probably take that conversation and continue what we had started offline, up to you. 
 
Vice-Chair Phillips:  As a follow-up question to that, what kind of, sorry, I understand it wasn’t 
really your decision to make, but I also know advocating for Greek Life organizations is part of 
your campaign as President, I was wondering how you plan to ensure these groups are properly 
represented in the future? 
 
President Symington: Representative of the get involved fair specifically? 
 
Vice-Chair Phillips: I think it involved the get involved fair specifically and just in the 
operations in the day to day, that they aren’t left or shoved to the side 
 
President Symington:  So with the get involved fairs specifically, I think my input ends after 
this year beyond what the foundation I can set for, we are still going to work towards that 
memorandum of understanding of which those conversations are starting to pick up again, and I 
know we’ve been in touch with the Dean of Students office trying to figure out how we can 
allow, Greek life organizations to book spaces, so we are trying to hit those three points that you 
brought up with respect with the get involved fair involvement and the ability to book spaces and 
still be able to work together in terms of public recognition of the work that you guys do. And 
hopefully we will be able to formalize that by the end of the year, that puts that in a place of 
semi-permeance. 
 
Director Murphy:  If I can just speak that as well, I just want to kind of being in the unique 
position of being on the board and also working with Shane externally, we have had really good 
strides so far and really good discussions. I’ve done my best to pass along all the information so 
definitely talk to your representatives, both president and vice-president of your organization and 
more specifically if you have anything that needs to be done so I can pass along directly during 
our meetings.  
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10. Comments from the Executive Director & COO 
 
ED Champagne: Yeah, in the interests of time, I’ll try to make brief, a big congratulations to all 
of the orientation week volunteers and the folks involved and kind of getting students back on 
campus and actively engaged in in-person experience. It’s been very refreshing although 
frustrating for all those who are used to no lines for coffee. It’s actually been really wonderful to 
see the lounges kind of filled up, the line-ups when I am not in them are fantastic. It’s really been 
a great experience and the orientation teams on both campuses did a really excellent job kind of 
making first year students feel welcome, and even upper year students if the opportunity was 
appropriate. I know that MASA and McVagely, and Mackenzie Lake worked really hard on the 
concert on the Waterloo campus. I won’t say it wasn’t an unprecedented success but it’s 
definitely been a long time since we’ve done an event of that size and scope so that was really, 
really exciting to see and how it was positively received by the community was really 
encouraging. I experienced they prefer to shake their fists at the clouds and celebrate those type 
of things, now they may not like the music but they did recognize that it was a really well-run 
event and students dispersed and kind of went amongst the community very respectfully. So, I 
was really dumb founded, surprised, and pleasantly so, because it was a really amazing event, so 
shout out to them. Shine’o’rama is not quite back to where it used to be but they had a very 
successful campaign on both campuses, I think we are targeting somewhere in and around the 
neighbourhood $50 000ish today, which is really great, given that we don’t go out in the 
community in the way that we have over the past number of years, with the exception obviously 
of covid. So big shout out to the Shine’O’Rama teams. Operationally, everything is kind of up 
and going, a couple of dramatically different hospitality updates. First and foremost, they had a 
huge hiring blitz at the Get Involved Fair, I think they handed out upward of 100 applications 
and got almost a 100 applications back, so they’ve got essentially a full staff team hired, now 
they have to train them up and get them on the floor and kind of get it up to speed, so hopefully 
we can get well, open up a little bit more regularly at servicing students for more hours than for 
what we’ve done for the last couple of weeks and couple of years, now that I mention it. On the 
downside, effective yesterday morning, the Student’s Union unfortunately accepted the 
resignation of the Director of Hospitality Services, Jayas Balaskanthan will be leaving the 
organization for the first time in 13 years, he’s taking an opportunity to begin the general 
manager of the Graduate Students Association of Waterloo. So, a whole section of emotions on 
that, but we are really happy for Jayas to be able to move on and kind of develop his professional 
career, but tremendously sad for the Laurier community, he’s been a stable and foundation on 
this campus, since he stepped foot on it, back in 1997. A minor three-year gap at the last time he 
was at the University of Waterloo, so it’s a kind of weird game of tennis between the two 
campuses. We are really excited for him, and we will work diligently with the hospitality team to 
try and figure out what that means for the short term, the medium term, and the long term, and 
it’s entirely possible that some of that will involve discussions with the board, because things 
cost money, right? We didn’t see it coming, so we wish Jayas all the best, his last day will be 
Monday September the 26th, I did thank him for waiting until after homecoming to leave, 
because there is a lot of activities happening on the homecoming weekend 
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ED Champagne:  Pretty huge news, I’ve known Jayas pretty much since the first day we 
stepped on campus together in 1997, so, yeah, it’s sad, angry, happy, elated, celebratory, I’m 
really looking forward for this opportunity for him. Those are the big hitter ones. I’ll leave it at 
that.  
 
Director Abu-Rshaid: I just wanted to ask from a technical perspective, what is the next step 
for operations for this particular role, are we going to re-evaluate the role, and if so, would it be 
possible for the board to get a statement of merit or criteria as was done last time. 
 
ED Champagne: Two questions there. So, we’re going to walk it backwards, so we basically 
have less than two weeks to get something in place in terms of leadership to help guide that team 
and support that team. We met with the hospitality team yesterday afternoon and told them that 
we are going to basically circle the wagons around them and support them, we certainly don’t 
want to leave them flapping in the breeze. So as I alluded to, I believe that ultimately the solution 
will be a short term solution which will get a leader installed into that, to be the focal point so 
that we can kind of continue business as we seen it, while we work towards a more medium term 
solution which will likely be an interim and acting director in that position to kind of help us do 
an evaluation and get us through a bare minimum this semester, potentially the entire academic 
year while we organizationally have potentially take the time to really take a step back and to 
look at what that role needs, what the vision of that is in the future, how Brantford hospitality 
solution which is a high priority for our organization, what that could potentially looks and how 
quickly that looks like and then this is far off from the distance, but what does a Milton presence 
look like whenever that campus comes online in the Fall of ’24. That one is way further off in the 
distance, I’m not so worried about that, but I really want to take the time to figure out what is 
right for our organization, while supporting what is happening right now, today in Waterloo, as 
well as what is happening in Brantford with the Golden Grounds coffee stand, I guess you can 
call it, on the Brantford campus right now. That team has been short staffed for a little while, so 
it's all about trying to get them set up for success. They have the part-time staff to be able to do 
the stuff but we don’t necessarily have the management coverage. One of the major shifts that 
we want to do is bring back the student manager program that we kind of got away from a 
number of years ago. All that to say, when we get to a point of a decision, we are happy to have a 
statement of merit criteria’s kind of put towards the board so they are well apprised, of what the 
operations and decisions are for that department, we certainly don’t want to keep anyone in the 
dark 
 
Vice-Chair Phillips: Question for you, while I was down in the international news stand, I 
believe it was called, the nice gentleman working there had two questions for me. One is if he 
could have paper copies of maps because a lot of students come in there and ask for maps, just 
thought I would bring that to you 
 
ED Champagne:  Yep 
 
Vice-Chair Phillips: The second thing that he was wondering about was, with respect to 
convenience dollars and flex dollars, a lot of students are confused that they can’t use their flex  
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dollars there, I don’t know why not, I’m sure there is a good reason, but I just wanted to alert you 
to that being an issue he’s facing 
 
ED Champagne: Yep 
 
Vice-Chair Phillips: No problem. If the board is interested, happy to prepare a brief for the next 
board meeting, to kind of explain as to why that doesn’t happen, not the maps’ part, but the meal 
plan stuff, there is a variety of different reasons, no pun intended with that market, for why that 
doesn’t happen. So, I am happy to prepare a brief to prepare a brief and have that on record for 
the next board meeting. For the record Veritas café is also not available on those systems and 
there are valid reasons for that.  
 
Chair Del Giudice: Okay, I think a brief would benefit us all. I just want to know the situation 
as to why not. A brief would be greatly appreciated. Thank you, Phil Champagne.  
 

11. Direct Inspection Committee Reports 
 
Chair Del Giudice: The last meeting but we could not, we have to approve them again because 
of a lack of quorum from the last meeting. So, before I go into the Direct Inspection Committee 
that we didn’t go over last time, I’d like to just approve of the ones we have already discussed. 
 
Motion # 6 Approval of El #2d Financial Conditions & Activities (Phillips/Abu-Rshaid) 
Vote: Unanimous 
Result:  Pass 
 
Motion # 7 Ends Direct Inspection Committees Report (Murphy/LeClair) 
Vote: Unanimous 
Result:  Pass 
 
Chair Del Giudice: Onwards to what was not discussed at the last meeting, which was the 
Financial Conditions and Activities, Ian go ahead.  
 
PR&A Muller: Sorry, just to clarify that in the Ends Direct Inspection Committee Report, the 
Committee recommended a policy change, you’ve approved the report, but you would need a 
separate motion to approve of the recommendation that was made by that committee. 
 
Chair Del Giudice:  Okay, so we approved the report, can I have a motion on the table to add in 
the amended wording into the Ends Committee Direct Inspection Committee Report.  
 
Motion # 8:  Amended Wording into the Ends Committee Direct Inspection Committee Report 
(Abu-Rshaid/Phillips) 
Vote: Unanimous 
Result: Pass 
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Chair Del Giudice:  Okay, so the EL #2d Direct Inspection Committee was struck on June 13th, 
2022 with the mandate to review and assess section and limitation 2d with committee ensure that 
the evidence presented was appropriate and up to date. The wording of the policy is sound, and 
that people in the organization was captured in the policy. The membership of the committee 
consists of Director Abu-Rshaid, Director Sorry, Director Murphy. The committee has done on 
one occasion since its establishment on September 13th, 2022. All members were in attendance. 
For The EL #2d Direct Inspection Committee, the committee had discussions on the following 
items prior to making their decision, if the wording of the policy was still relevant, the 
organization, the scope of the organization is captured in the policy, how recent the policy was 
looked at and revised, the scope of the organization was captured in the policy, the following 
decision of the committee consists of zero recommendations to the policy at hand. So that is 
EL#2d Financial Conditions & Activities  
 
Motion # 9:  Adopt and Approve of Direct Inspection Committee Report (Phillips/LeClair) 
Vote: 10-0-0 
Result: Pass 
 

12.  Direct Inspection Committee Elections 
 
Chair Del Giudice: We will now move onto Direct Inspection Committee Elections EL #2j 
Hiring Practices and Unpaid Staff and GP #2f the Board Committee Principles. So, we will move 
into elections or starting with EL #2j. We are going to do nominations for this, personally, how 
many directors including myself have to be on each committee? 
 
PR&A Muller: All of the Direction Inspection Committees are the same so, so same formation 
as the previous ones. 
 
Chair Del Giudice: Alright, thanks for clarifying. So, do I have any nominations for Hiring 
Practices of Unpaid Staff? Vice-Chair Phillips? 
 
Vice-Chair Phillips:  I would like to nominate; can I make two nominations? 
 
Chair Del Giudice: Sure 
 
Vice-Chair Phillips:  I would like to nominate Directors Abu-Rshaid and Directors Murphy. 
 
Chair Del Giudice: Director Abu-Rshaid do you stand? 
 
Director Abu-Rshaid:  I’ll stand 
 
Chair Del Giudice:  Director Murphy do you stand? 
 
Director Murphy: I do not stand, sorry.  
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Chair Del Giudice: Do I have any other nominations for this committee? I would like to 
nominate Director LeClair. Director LeClair, do you stand? 
 
Director LeClair: Sure, yes 
 
Chair Del Giudice: and one more. Vice-Chair Phillips? 
 
Vice-Chair Phillips: I’ll nominate Director Goodwin 
 
Chair Del Giudice:  Director Goodwin do you stand? 
 
Director Goodwin: Yep 
 
Motion # 10 Approve of the Election of the Directors Abu-Rshaid, LeClair, Goodwin, and Chair 
Del Giudice to the EL #2j Direct Inspection Committee. (Murphy/Phillips) 
Vote: 5-0-3 
Result:  Pass 
 
Chair Del Giudice:  We will move onto the next Direct Inspection Committee which is GP #2f, 
the Board Committee Principles. Do I have any nominations for this committee? Vice-Chair 
Phillips? 
 
Vice-Chair Phillips:  I would like to nominate myself and I will stand. 
 
Chair Del Giudice:  Okay, do I have any other nominations? Go ahead Director Abu-Rshaid. 
 
Director Abu-Rshaid:  I would like to nominate Director Murphy 
 
Chair Del Giudice:  Director Murphy do you stand? 
 
Director Murphy: I stand 
 
Chair Del Giudice: Okay, and I would like to nominate Director Elmasri to the committee. 
Director, do you stand? 
 
Director Elmasri:  I stand, yeah 
 
Motion # 11 Approve of the Election of Vice-Chair Phillips, Director Murphy and Director 
Elmasri to the Direct Inspection Committee GP #2f (LeClair/Abu-Rshaid) 
Vote: 4-0-3 
Result: Pass 
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13. Fall Meeting Schedule & Attendance 

 
Chair Del Giudice: Now we will go onto the Fall meeting schedule. We have already discussed 
the attendance options and expectations. I will reiterate, please tell me if you can’t meet Board 
Meetings, or if you’re going to be late, or if you can’t make Direct Inspection Committees, or 
any committees, or things like that, we will help you out if you need any assistance. Vice-Chair 
Phillips do you have a comment? 
 
Vice-Chair Phillips: Question for you Mr. Chair. How many meetings can a director miss 
without sending regrets before they are in poor standing with the board? Do you know? 
 
Chair Del Giudice:  I believe that’s a question for our Executive Directors 
 
ED Champagne:  I’ll throw that to Ian, I feel like the number is three for some reason, usually is 
 
PR&A Muller:  Yeah, it might be worth everyone collectively looking at the Board Code of 
Conduct, as a good exercise.  
 
Chair Del Giudice: Sorry can you repeat that because you cut out a little bit 
 
PR&A Muller: If you want to share your screen, we can pull up the policy manual, it might be 
worth the board collectively looking at the Board Code of Conduct where those expectations are 
laid out. 
 
Chair Del Giudice: Okay.  
 
PR&A Muller: It would be GP #2c in particular 
 
 
Vice-Chair Phillips: So, it’s three meetings that Directors are permitted to miss without regrets. 
What happens if a director has missed three or more meetings without regrets? 
 
Chair Del Giudice:  From my understanding, we wouldn’t go directly to punitive actions like 
removing the Director, we would talk to the Director, see what’s going on and try to work out to 
see if there are any alternative arrangements that can be done, to see if there is anything we can 
do to help. In the worst-case scenario, I believe the Director would be removed. Am I correct in 
that? 
 
PR&A Muller:  As far as my understanding goes, yes 
 
Chair Del Giudice:  Okay. So, I will reach out to those Directors who have missed three or 
more meetings without regrets, and we will proceed from there. So, next up is the fall meeting 
schedule. I think we have enough Directors here to come up with a comprehensive schedule for 
the rest of the Fall term. Vice-Chair Phillips? 
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Vice-Chair Phillips: So, just to open discussion about the schedule for the rest of the year. Did 
we determine a day time meeting time for the board would not be possible due to personal 
commitments, or is this something that we can look at now that the school year has started and 
everyone has a better understanding of their schedule. To clarify, is anyone not able to meeting 
during the day, during the week? Okay, I see a couple of directors. 
 
Director LeClair: I’m actually able to meet during the day, my schedule has been moved 
around just my courses end at 3pm pretty much everyday 
 
Vice-Chair Phillips: Does this time continue to work for everybody, 730pm on Tuesday, I know 
it’s not as early as you would like to meet, but is this a time that we could continue to meet at for 
the rest of the term. 
 
Chair Del Giudice: It actually doesn’t work for me, as I have class at this time, if we could to 
take more time, I would appreciate that. Director Murphy 
 
Director Murphy: Would Monday around this time work? 
 
Chair Del Giudice: That works for me, Vice-Chair Phillips? 
 
Vice-Chair Phillips: It’s my understanding from operations, this causes challenges supplying 
board meeting materials on time because it’s just after the weekend 
 
PR&A Muller: Based on the hours required, I want to say 72, so we need to get those to you, 
the board on the Friday, which is, I feel like we did that last year 
 
Chair Del Giudice: Director Abu-Rshaid 
 
Director Abu-Rshaid: Would Wednesday at this time work for other directors? 
 
Chair Del-Giudice: Vice-chair Phillips? 
 
Vice-Chair Phillips: Okay, Thursdays in the mid-late afternoon, like would 5pm work on 
Thursday afternoons for the directors? 
 
PR&A Muller:  Is it possible to collect everyone’s class schedule and then have a meeting to 
put together two or three of the best options and present at the next board meeting, to see what 
works best for folks 
 
Chair Del Giudice:  Okay, yep, we could definitely do that. So, Vice-Chair Phillips? 
 
Vice Chair Phillips: I was just going to say should we strike the next meeting then, so we have 
that on paper. 
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Chair Del Giudice:  I believe the next meeting is already set 
 
PR&A Muller: It’s my understanding that was set already 
 
Vice-Chair Phillips:  Yep, the 27th at 730pm 
 
Chair Del Giudice:  Director Goodwin? 
 
Director Goodwin: Yeah, I was just going to say if we email schedules and stuff that would be a 
lot easier for me as I have intramurals and other sports, and I’m not sure when they are exactly 
happening as the schedules haven’t been released yet. So, I would probably be better. So, I won’t 
always be available 
 
PR&A Muller: I would like to suggest that the board always be a priority 
 
Chair Del Giudice: Director Murphy? 
 
Director Murphy: Do you want our school schedules, like extra-curriculars, like ones that can 
be shimmied around, but like other responsibilities. As much as the board is my priority, I am 
also in charge of a few other things that cannot be moved 
 
Chair Del Giudice:  Yeah, I understand that, if something can absolutely not be moved on the 
schedule, or an extra-curricular, we can try working around that. Vice-Chair Phillips? 
 
Vice-Chair Phillips: What’s the name of that website where you send it to a bunch of people, 
and they can fill in their availability. Doodle, we should do one of those 
 
Chair Del Giudice: Okay 
 
PR&A Muller: My hope would be able to get everybody’s schedule and then pick a few dates, 
and maybe do a doodle poll that way. 
 
Vice Chair Phillips: after we have collected everyone’s schedules 
 
PR&A Muller: Yeah 
 
Chair Del Giudice:  Okay, I think that’s a good idea so we have a narrowed down set of dates 
so we can actually meet.  
 
PR&A Muller: What I might suggest is that you set a deadline for when schedules need to be 
emailed to you so that we can do that work in a timely fashion and present it hopefully for the 
next board meeting. 
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Chair Del Giudice: Okay. So, I think that we should definitely get this in before Friday of next 
week, that way we can get it into the Board package before the meeting, and so we can sort of set 
the schedules then. Vice-Chair Phillips? 
 
Vice-Chair Phillips: May I recommend that we set a deadline of this Friday to get everyone’s 
school schedules so there is no reason, I can’t see a reason why anyone wouldn’t be able to send 
them in that time 
 
PR&A Muller: Is anyone on the board right now, currently in co-op? So theoretically I would 
recommend that the Board do it’s best to provide some availability during the day, I just know 
we’ve talked in the past and the Board has indicated a willingness and desire to have a variety of 
guests attend and its very challenging to have guests attend in the evening. So, might be 
something worth considering. 
 
Chair Del Giudice: Okay, thank you. Director Abu-Rshaid 
 
Director Abu-Rshaid: Although I may not have co-op, Tuesdays and Thursdays I work full 
time, which would basically mean it would be impossible. Just so you know, on Monday’s, 
Wednesdays and Fridays, I have a 10am and a 530pm, and on Wednesdays and Thursdays I have 
an 1130 as well as Friday, so I can Friday like mid-day like after, or in-between classes, for me, 
otherwise, its very difficult because I have to walk everywhere 
 
Chair Del Giudice: Okay, we will definitely keep Friday open as an option, it doesn’t seem like 
anyone has any real objections to Friday, I understand it’s not the most ideal day to do it, 
however, if needed we will do it on a Friday, but first, lets just get the schedules in before this 
Friday, so that would be the 16th. So, can I have a motion, do we need a motion for this? 
 
PR&A Muller: I don’t think so. I think you can just tell them “Hey I need your schedules by 
this time” 
 
Chair Del Giudice: Alright, so all Directors please submit your schedules for school and work 
for the deadline September 16th. Please get it to me as soon as possible. Director go ahead 
 
Director Murphy: I just have a question. When do you think we will be able to figure out that 
schedule, because I work with the school and I put my September availability in but I need to put 
the rest of my term in.? I just want to make sure I’m not setting myself up for missing meetings. 
 
Chair Del Giudice: Yeah, so by Friday, let’s say Friday by 5pm, I should be able to get that in 
 
Ed Champagne: I suggest have it due Friday by noon, then let’s connect you I and Ian, maybe 
Shane, on Friday afternoon and we will work through it and see if we can get it done by the end 
of the day 
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Chair Del Giudice:  Okay that works, perfect. Friday at noon please have your schedules in. 
Onto the next item. 
 

14. Finance Committee Elections 
 
Chair Del Giudice: So, Finance Committee Elections. Before we approve and acclaim the 
directors that we talked about last week. I would like to re-open the floor to any further 
discussion, any further nominations for the committee, since not many directors were available 
to the last meeting. Give all directors an opportunity to voice if they would like to be on this 
committee. Do I have any nominations for this committee? 
 
Vice-Chair Phillips: I would like to nominate Director Abu-Rshaid 
 
Chair Del Giudice: Director Abu-Rshaid do you stand? 
 
Director Abu-Rshaid: Yes, please 
 
Chair Del Giudice: Okay, that being said, we will either go into elections or someone would 
have to resign their position. Vice Chair Phillips. 
 
Vice-Chair Phillips: I would like to resign from participation on the Finance Committee 
 
Motion # 12 Acclamation of Chair Del Giudice, Director Betivoiu, Director Elmasri, and 
Director Abu-Rshaid to the Finance Committee (Elmasri/Phillips) 
Vote: 5-0-2 
Result: Pass 
 

15. Ad Hoc Social Committee Election 
 
 
Chair Del Giudice:  We will now move on to the AD Hoc Social Committee Election. We 
talked about this last time, we are opening it, well we are going to re-open our Instagram account 
which is the Laurier votes account, connect to the SU board account, and as discussed previously 
we will also be opening a TikTok account. I believe last year, when this committee was struck, 
we had four directors on it, is that direction that this committee is going, do we want more, do we 
want less, four is quite a big number for a committee, so, is there any intentions to reduce it, or to 
increase it. Or keep it at four 
 
Director Murphy: I feel like we can just keep at four, it’s sounds like a lot, but realistically if 
we are re-opening both the Instagram and TikTok, I’d rather not lessen it or start out with less. 
 
Director LeClair: Running an Instagram is easy, I’ve done it before, I’ve never used TikTok, so 
I can’t really give a lot of input there, but four sounds like way too much. 
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Director Elmasri: I would like to second that point, I feel like maybe three directors is a good 
way to go, like we want two for TikTok or two for Instagram, one for TikTok 
 
Chair Del Giudice: Okay, Director Murphy would that work? 
 
Director Murphy: Yeah, I should have started with this, what is the committee doing? 
 
Chair Del Giudice: So, essentially the committee serves to advertise the board, talk about what 
we do, basically you would do what we do in a club booth, we will put it online. We will also 
talk about events that will come up, such as a board meeting, or a bi-election or a regular 
election, hiring that we will be doing, things like that. It’s pretty ambiguous of what this 
committee actually does. It’s mainly any engagement at all about the board on social media. 
Director Abu-Rshaid go ahead. 
 
Director Abu-Rshaid: I would like to echo the sentiment of Director Murphy just because we 
have four directors, like four directors will be running the accounts, and having more people 
could potentially lead to more ideas or better ideas.  
 
Chair Del Giudice: So, you would like to keep it at four.  
 
 
Director Abu-Rshaid: If we have less directors, it may mean we aren’t able to produce as much 
content that will actually bring out the message we are trying to bring out. So, if we have less 
people, that may not be efficient, we don’t actually need four people really, really working on the 
accounts, but coordinating and coming up with ideas and producing which would require more 
people. 
 
Chair Del Giudice: Okay, I can see somewhat of a division on the Board. We will put this up to 
a vote. All those in in favour of three directors on the committee. All those in favour for four. 
Alright, so three directors it is. So, we will go into elections, do I have any nominations for this 
committee? Vice-Chair Philips? 
 
Vice-Chair Phillips: I would like to nominate Director Murphy 
 
Chair Del Giudice: Director Murphy do you stand? 
 
Director Murphy: I do stand 
 
Chair Del Giudice: Any further nominations, Director Elmasri? 
 
Director Elmasri: I would like to nominate Director Abu-Rshaid 
 
Chair Del Giudice:  Director Abu-Rshaid do you stand? 
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Director Abu-Rshaid: I’ll stand 
 
Chair Del Giudice: Director Murphy 
 
Director Murphy: I would like to nominate vice-chair Phillips 
 
Chair Del Giudice:  Vice-Char Phillips do you stand? 
 
Vice-Chair Phillips:  I will not stand 
 
Chair Del Giudice: okay, I will nominate myself, and I do stand.  
 
Motion # 13 Acclaim Director Murphy, Director Abu-Rshaid, and Chair Del Giudice to the Ad 
Hoc Social Media Committee (Phillips/Elmasri) 
Vote: 4-0-3 
Result: Pass 
 
 

16. Board Secretary Hiring Committee Update 
 
Chair Del Giudice: Moving onto the Board Secretary Hiring Committee Update. So, we have 
hired a secretary for the Board, Clarissa, we are very happy to have you here, very excited to 
work with you. If you have any questions about taking minutes, about anything that pertains to 
your role, please reach out to any of us, and we will make sure to add you to all of the email lists 
for board resources such as agenda packages, zoom links, and things like that. Vice-Chair 
Phillips? 
 
Vice-Chair Phillips: I want to say thank you to Phil and Ian for filling in the interim and doing 
our meeting minutes for us. It looks like it was just Ian actually, I’ll take back that Thanks for 
Phil, and I thank you Ian 
 
Chair Del Giudice: Absolutely thank you do our operations team. So glad 
 
ED Champagne:  I just have a question? We had a discussion in about potentially hiring a 
second board secretary to kind of deal with the backlog of minutes that are missing from last 
year’s board. Has there been any discussion on that? I don’t know how many folks you 
interviewed or 
 
Chair Del Giudice: We did interview some folks, there wasn’t any discussion on that, because 
the Board kind of came to a stand still on that, not to sure where to go. The contract doesn’t 
include that. We can re-open the hiring process again and give a small honouriam to those who 
apply 
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ED Champagne: So maybe when we connect on Friday to talk about the schedule, we can just 
further this conversation a little bit so where are there 
 
Chair Del Giudice: Yeah, Perfect. So onwards to the Brantford Student Life Levy Committee 
Election. This is for representation 
 
Director Abu-Rshaid: Hi Chair, I did have a question about the previous topic.  
 
Chair Del Giudice: Okay go ahead 
 
Director Abu-Rshaid: Well actually first things first, I just want to say thank you Ian for your 
wonderful meeting minutes, and a congratulations to our new board secretary. The question that I 
had, are we not able to pull from the existing pool from qualified candidates hypothetically. We 
vetted their cover letters, their resumes, and then interviewed them, and there were quite a few  
highly qualified candidates that would fit this job particularly well, and it would be a shame to 
put them through the whole rigmarole again.  
 
 
ED Champagne: I think that would be part of the conversation we would have on Friday to 
confirm.  
 
Chair Del Giudice:  We will discuss all our options on Friday. Reaching out to previous 
candidates is definitely a good idea, because there were some qualified candidates that we 
interviewed, and I would be happy to hire one of them for sure.  
 
Brantford Student Life Levy Committee 
 
 
Chair Del Giudice: This is where we will collect three additional directors to be on this 
committee, two of which must be from the Brantford Campus. Do we have any nominations for 
this committee? Vice-Chair Phillips? 
 
Vice-Chair Phillips: I will nominate Directors Abu-Rshaid and I apologize for not remembering 
who is our second Brantford Director. Is it Director Goodwin, Is it Samar? Am I able to 
nominate as she is not present? 
 
Chair Del Giudice: I don’t think you can because she is not here to accept whether she will 
actually stand or not.  
 
ED Champagne: I might suggest if she is actually required, she doesn’t have a whole lot of 
choice, we can make that part of the discussion because she is one of the board members that 
may or may not be in good standing right at this moment.  
 
Chair Del Giudice: Okay 
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PR&A Muller: You can nominate an abstention.  
 
Chair Del Giudice: Nomination for Director Hashmi and we need one Director; do I have any 
further nominations. Vice-Chair Phillips? 
 
Vice-Chair Phillips: I will nominate myself 
 
Chari Del Giudice: Do you stand? 
 
Vice-Chair Phillips: Sure 
 
Motion # 14: Acclamation of Director Hashmi, Director Abu-Rshaid, and Vice-Chair Phillips to 
the Brantford Student Life Levy Committee (Murphy/LeClair) 
Vote: 4-0-2 
Result: Pass 
 
 
Chair Del Giudice: Next up we have the Ad Hoc Honorarium Committee Update 
 
PR&A Muller: I just have a quick comment about the SOL just for those that are on that 
committee. There are a couple of dates already, they aren’t set but I know that the admin person 
and you have emailed back and forth, it might even have been today or yesterday, those, expect 
those invites soon.  
 
 

17. Ad Hoc Honorarium Committee Update 
 
Vice-Chair Phillips: Thank you very much. I’ve gone through and I’ve made some amendments 
from the previous meeting though I recognize we did not have quorum, so I will re-iterate them 
for the members here. The biggest and the pretty much the only change made was that, the 
reporting of the new role that we would like to bring forth. Now it’s an addition of a policy 
researcher, they would also report to the director of Policy Researchers and Advocacy, to assist 
with some of the Ad Hoc responsibilities on a day-to-day basis. Does that capture the scope of 
the report there, Ian is that Okay? Great. That’s pretty much all the changes that we have, I don’t 
really know how to go forward, do I, we present a recommendation, I don’t know if its quite 
ready to vote on today. Right now its just a report, its not quite…. I don’t know can we make a 
recommendation; can we make a motion to vote on it? 
 
ED Champagne:  I believe so yeah 
 
Vice-Chair Phillips:  Okay, does that mean it would need to be voted on the next meeting 
because it hasn’t been sent to this meeting? I don’t believe its actually part of that package.  
 
ED Champagne:  Probably smart 
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PR&A Muller:  Maybe if we can have one final committee meeting to just kind of finalize the 
proposal, kind of get it kind of together and we can put the package together for the next 
available meeting. 
 
Vice-Chair Phillips: When does that need to be in by, just so I don’t miss it? 
 
 
PR&A Muller: The 27th is a Tuesday? So, we would probably want to submit it by that Friday. 
 
Vice-Chair Phillips: Great it will be submitted by that Friday. Sounds great, so I will revise, 
make the revisions, and submit it to the board for viewing and voting for the next board morning. 
 

18. Announcements 
 
Chair Del Giudice: So, I just want to announce that we, the President and the Chair of the Board 
evaluations and the Board Self-evaluations are scheduled, take place next week during the 
September 27th, 2022 Board meeting. Very important that we all come to that, see where we can 
improve, where we have done well, and how we can proceed for this academic year. Are there 
any further announcements that the directors would like to share? Anything exciting? Ian go 
ahead. 
 
PR&A Muller: We do have one other piece of new business. So, the university’s secretaries 
office was in communication to let us know that there was a senate resignation. So that triggers 
the process for the by the board, to fill that vacancy and according to the Senate by-laws the 
board is able to nominate the candidate or next candidate who received the next highest votes. 
So, basically the next candidate in the list of the candidates in the list who ran for elections. So, 
there is a number of candidates whom were up for election that did not receive enough votes, so 
the board can nominate, or motion to contact the next available individual on the list from the 
previous election, to gauge their interest, the board can then motion that they be appointed to that 
open Senate spot.  
 
Chair Del Giudice: Okay. I guess we could motion for that tonight, hypothetically. Vice-Chair 
Phillips? 
 
Vice-Chair Phillips: I was under the understanding that we only had 12 applications and that all 
12 of us were acclaimed as board members. I don’t know if… 
 
PR&A Muller: The University Senate.  
 
ED Champagne: We would put a call out for nominations, is it a call out for those that ran? 
 
PR&A Muller: No sorry, no. When it comes to the Senate of Wilfrid Laurier University, the 
Senate by-laws allow for the next runner up from the previous election to be, to fill the vacancy. 
From the 2022 elections, we have runners up that we can contact, and then the board can appoint  
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them to fill that vacancy. For the Senate it’s more straight forward, we don’t have that same 
capacity for the board of directors. 
 
ED Champagne: So, who reaches out to the candidate, the secretariates office? 
 
PR&A Muller: I mean we can or the secretariate office can. We would probably do it in 
conjunction with that office.  
 
Chair Del Giudice: Okay, Director Abu-Rshaid? 
 
Director Abu-Rshaid: I had a quick question. Is this in relation to the hiring committee for the 
new VP academic? 
 
PR&A Muller: No, no, this is just an empty student senator resigned their senate seat, so there is 
an empty student senate spot.  
 
Director Abu-Rshaid: Okay, just for, this might be a conflict of interest or not, I don’t know. I 
am also a student senator, so maybe I should not have a part in this discussion.  
 
Chair Del Giudice: Okay, so is there any further discussion on the matter before we motion to 
contact the previous person, next person on the list. 
 
PR&A Muller: Sorry to interrupt, what I might suggest is that the board can, given that we have 
more than one individual the board could make a motion that the students union is in contact 
with the first runner up from the 2022 election for Wilfrid Laurier University’s Senate and if that 
individual declines the opportunity, that same outreach given to the next runner up, that way we 
don’t have to come back to the board if the first individual declines. There are four potential 
candidates, so you could make a motion that we are in consultation with the university’s 
secretariates office, we reach out to the next runner up from the 2022 Senate elections and if 
accepted by the individual they will be appointed to the vacant senate spot.  
 
Motion # 15 Wilfrid Laurier’s Student Union will reach out to runners up from the Senate 
Election of 2022 (Phillips/Murphy) 
Vote: 5-0-2 
Result: Pass 
 

19. Action Items 
 
Chair Del Giudice: So next up we have Actions Items summary. So, in addition to reaching out 
to the directors who have missed three or more meetings, we will discuss with our executive  
directors and our president, about the hiring process, about hiring a new secretary to pick up the 
meeting minutes that were not picked up for last year, and to discuss the schedule for this 
upcoming year.  
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20. In-Camera Session 
 
Motion # 16 Move to In-Camera Session (Murphy/LeClair) 
Vote: unanimous 
Result: Pass 
 
 
Meeting Length:  1 hour, 37 minutes. 
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Board Members Present: Chair Francesco Del Giudice, Vice-Chair Blake Phillips, President 
Symington, Director Mohammad Abu-Rshaid, Director Nicholas Betivoiu, Director Carson 
Boettinger, Director Nur Elmasri, Director Michel LeClair, Director Emma Murphy 
 
Staff Members Present: Director, Finance & Administration Chris Turner, Director, Policy, 
Research & Advocacy Ian Muller 
 

1. Call to Order and Indigenous Land Acknowledgement 
 
Chair Del Giudice: Alright, I would like to call this meeting to order. We acknowledge the 
traditional territory of the neutral, neutral, Anishabee and Haudenosaunee people.  
 

2.  Regrets 
 
Directors Goodwin and Director Dermott 
 
Adoption of Agenda 
 
Motion # 1 Adoption of Agenda (Phillips/Boettinger) 
Vote: Unanimous 
Result: Pass 
 

3. Conflicts of Interest 
 
None 
 

4. Comments from the Chair of the Board & CGO 
 
Chair Del Giudice: Thank you to everybody who sent in their schedules, we have some 
availability times to discuss this evening. All the directors who I messaged about the attendance 
have responded to me and mainly has to do with some email troubles, scheduling conflicts and 
they were willing to rectify those situations as soon as possible. Ian I will reach out to you very 
soon about Director Hashmi’s email. She apparently doesn’t have access to it at all, so she hasn’t  
seen any of the information we have been sending her. I think it’s a similar situation as to what 
happened to Director Boettinger. We will have to work on that from an operational standpoint. 
That’s it from my end. Moving onto comments from the President & CEO. President Symington 
take it away. 
 

5. Comments from the President & CEO 
 
President Symington: Alright since we last met, students’ union sent 144 students to the Jays 
game Thursday night, which everyone was present, everyone got a Jay’s hat with a Golden 
Hawk logo on the side, which is really cool, and the Jays won 6-3. So that was awesome, we had  
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a ton of success with our Homecoming Tailgating event. Another success, that ping-pong table 
out there has kind of turned around the space out in 24 lounge, that’s what we were going for. 
So, we are seeing a lot more action out there. With a respect to menstrual equity, there are now 
dispensers out in the back hallway out there, as well as I don’t know what exactly you would 
call, that something you would dispose of those products in every washroom out there. I’m not 
sure they have made their way all around the campus, but we are really happy to see that going in 
the right direction. Consent week went pretty well, we say success in most areas, our banging 
brunch was really good, and we are potentially seeing what that could look like in Orientation 
week next year, because I think it’s really good. The Banging Brunch is essentially a consent talk 
marketed as how to have the best sex of your life, which consent and CDSI struggled to have a 
turn out during orientation week, but we saw students going and registering, we had 115 students 
show up. I feel like we found a really good way to engage that type of programming for 
orientation week next year. We were happy with how we went about the rally, the turn out was a 
little bit tough, obviously weather was not great, but we would have liked to see more students, 
but that’s the reality of the situation. Room bookings are tight right now, we’re seeing a lot of 
people especially on the club end of things complain that they can’t get a room booked, but that’s 
because it’s even a struggle for us, as room bookings have been frozen for everybody until after 
reading week. Other than that, we have our SU kick off events for our volunteers tomorrow on 
the Waterloo campus, and Thursday on the Brantford campus and that launches our point system, 
which is our volunteer incentivization program which allows student volunteers, the more they 
engage, they collect points, and they can go and redeem those points on the merchandise. We 
have ordered this year. So, yeah, those are updates. Things are looking pretty good right now.  
 

6. Fall Meeting Schedule  
 
 
Motion # 2 Fall Meeting Schedule (Murphy/Abu Rshaid) 
Vote: unanimous  
Result: Pass 
 

7. Spring/Summer Term Financial Report 
 
DF&A Turner: Hi everyone, thanks for letting me bring this forward to you tonight, so, what 
happens at various times throughout the year, I’ll bring a financial update to you to show you 
where we are financially where we are at during a certain point of the year. So, the numbers we 
are looking at tonight are for the first three months of our fiscal year and our fiscal year runs 
from May 1 to April 30, so this is basically our first quarter results for the year. The first thing 
for those of you who looked closely at the numbers, if any of you, engulphed when you looked at 
our statement of operations for the first three months and saw that we are in a deficit of $829 000 
already, I hope that didn’t cause any of you to lose any sleep but I’ll talk to that in a second, but 
there is three documents in your package tonight. There’s a schedule of expenses, and we will 
look at that one first. So, for the first three months we’ve accrued actual expenses of 1.197 
million dollars against the budget of 1.986 million dollars, so for the first three months of the 
year we’re almost 800 000 dollars under our expense budget and that’s primarily driven by the  
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second line, which is the health and dental claims. So, you will see there have only been claims 
of 3095 dollars against the budget of a little over a million dollars, so we are significantly under 
our anticipated health and dental claims, which happened last year as well, so it doesn’t come as 
a huge surprise to me at this point. We will skip the next statement which is a statement of 
operations, and we will go the statement of schedule of revenues. On that statement you will see 
that we’ve had actual revenues for the first three months of 369 000 against the budget of 496 
000. So, we are about 127 000 dollars under where we said we would be for revenues at this 
point in the year. That’s mostly driven by, if you look at the Wilf’s line, so we weren’t open at 
all during the summertime when we had set this budget, we anticipated we might possibly be 
open for business a little bit in the summer, just didn’t happen with covid and not having enough 
staff, so we’ve saved money on the expense side for Wilf’s, but we’re also under budget because 
it wasn’t open.  So, if we flip back to the statement of operations, you’ll see for the three months, 
we’ve had revenues of 369 000, expenses of 1 119 000 so at this point in time, we are at a deficit 
of 829 700 dollars. I just want to assure the board that this is normal for the first three quarters, 
sorry for the first period of the year, we always, since the inception of the student union have run 
a deficit in the first quarter. I looked at last year’s number to this point in time, the deficit, was  
about 809, 810 000, so we’re right in the exact same ballpark and the reason for that is in the first 
quarter period we have very little in the way of revenues coming in. For this fiscal year we don’t 
start collecting any significant student fees or any of our health and dental money until the fall 
term. So, revenues are quite low, expenses are fairly even across the year, so while we are not 
generating any revenue for the first quarter, our expenses are marching ahead as normal. So, this 
typically is the case, a deficit of this magnitude for the first quarter, once we look at the next set 
of statements, you’ll see that start to reverse, as we pull in student fees, health and dental money, 
Wilf’s is now open, Golden Grounds in Brantford is now open, anything that generates revenue 
for us is up and going. So, as we move ahead that picture will change dramatically. As I said just 
some information for the board, health and dental again this year similar to the last couple of 
years, I think the overall uptake and usage of the plan will be under budget significantly, on the 
other hand, for our operation of Wilf’s, I think we will struggle to hit our revenue numbers for 
the year for Wilf’s, and there is a number of factors associated with that. We can get into that in 
more detail at another point in time once we have a bit more data and it’s been open longer, but 
as I said, it wasn’t open in the summer. We have a first-year cohort, a second-year cohort, and a 
third-year cohort who haven’t really been able to take advantage at a dine in experience at Wilf’s 
restaurant, so there is a lot of marketing we need to do to get that message out there about the 
restaurant and we will start and continue to do that. We’re going to try getting our online 
ordering up and going as soon as possible, on the expense side with Wilf’s we’ve got a staff, a 
very rookie, a very green staff, that we need to bring up to speed quickly. Typically at this point 
in the year, on a regular year, pre-covid, we’d have second, third, and fourth year students who 
had worked in Wilf’s for atleast one season, and some employees for three or four seasons, so we 
had a fairly experienced staff, right out of the blocks this year, the significant portion of the staff 
is brand new, so it’s going to take them awhile to get up and going. So, we’ve been baby steps so 
far. I’ll leave it at that, I don’t want to take too much time, but I can open it up for questions at 
this point if anybody has any.  
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Director Boettinger: So, I noticed in the expenses part, the actual variances added up is a dollar 
less, I don’t know if that’s a little nit-picky thing, or probably 
 
DF&A Turner: sorry one dollar 
 
Director Boettinger:  yeah, a singular dollar, yeah 
 
DF&A Turner:  Okay, that’s probably just rounding of the cents that we don’t show. So that’s 
why that would be 
 
Vice-Chair Phillips: So, when will we receive the report for the second period. Starting August, 
September, October 
 
DF&A Turner:  Yeah, so it would end August, September, and October and then it takes us 
about a month to get all the numbers in and get everything finalized, so potentially December, it 
depends on exams and the board’s schedule, and what’s going on. December is always a tricky 
month for your board to meet, because of exams and people leaving for the holidays. If not late 
December, early December, it would be in January for sure. Very shortly we will be bringing to 
you the audited, the draft audited statements for the last fiscal year, so the entire year. So, you 
guys will get a look at what a full year’s financial picture actually is. It is the previous year, but 
things are fairly consistent year to year. That will be coming forward shortly.  
 
Director Abu-Rshaid: so, what do we, do we have any projections on what the second period 
will look like, and would you be able to share that with the board? 
 
DF&A Turner: I don’t have any projections right now because we’re just getting going back to 
school, but enrolment is right around what we budgeted for, so the student fees that we have 
anticipated in the budget should be very close. Once we get our actual numbers, health and 
dental as I said, our usage is done, so I anticipate a significant surplus there, Wilf’s will be under 
the revenue side, but also there will be some savings on the cost side as well. Interestingly the 
Golden Grounds Coffee Kiosk in Brantford has done quite well since we’ve had it open since the 
start of September, and I think that has to do with it being the only game in town on the 
Brantford campus. So, it’s actually done better than we anticipated, so for that second quarter, I 
imagine we will be pretty close to a budgeted position once it comes forward, but it’s still a little 
early to say anything.  
 
Director Abu-Rshaid: So, do you expect a deficit or a surplus? 
 
DF&A Turner: I don’t know, it’s too early at this point. So, at that point in time, we will 
bringing forward six months worth of data, I anticipate we’ll probably still be in a little bit of a 
deficit at that point in time, and it will probably flip over into a balanced position or a surplus 
when we bring the third quarter numbers forward. That’s typical. 
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Director Abu-Rshaid: right and with the expectation that we should be running a surplus by the 
end of the fiscal year. Is that correct? 
 
DF&A Turner: Yes, that’s correct 
 

8. Ad Hoc Honorarium Committee Update 
 
Vice-Chair Phillips: Thank you Mr. Chair. So, the Ad Hoc Honorarium Committee sent into the 
board at the last meeting with our draft recommendation. We’ve since gone and updated the 
issues we discussed during that meeting and are ready to present these two recommendations to 
the board. So, nothing much has changed on this document with the exception of the reporting of 
the governance coordinator and recommendation 1 has been amended to also include the 
Director of Policy Research and Advocacy to assist with some of the Ad Hoc responsibilities that 
they will have to pick up on a day-to-day basis. We also gone through and put in a suggested 
salary range, I didn’t provide the range, it’s just a salary per hour for this position as well, and 
with the suggested hours a week. I know in previous conversations we’ve had with the board, we 
talked about starting with a conservative amount of hours per week that we believe they will 
work in the incidence that they work more, it’s better that they receive a pay raise, then it turns 
out they work less, and we cut their wages. So, we start at ten hours a week, and that way we can 
take a look at it as the semester progresses, and see how much work they are doing, especially 
around election season and that is recommendation 1. There’s the creation of that new role and 
then recommendation number 2 is regarding the cash honorarium for these CGO which has been 
redacted or removed from the position. I remember at a previous meeting and conversations with 
Phil and Ian, we talked about the, I believe a tuition bursary that the president CEO receives, I 
didn’t have the number for that, I couldn’t find the number for that, but the second part of the 
recommendation, is writing that compensation to the CGO for the duties they performed for the 
year without really getting into conflict of interest territory and having the CGO technically an 
employee and then a governing body of the organization. Those are the recommendations both 1 
and 2, the board is welcome to approve one, both, or neither of them, but this is the finding I 
would like to present to the board.  
 
Director Abu-Rshaid: I just want to say first off, well done vice-chair on your work on this, I 
think you’ve done a stellar job. I agree, although I agree with wage of $23 an hour, I just would 
like to hear a little bit about how you came to that number. I think that is a fair compensation 
based on the work on the work they doing and the value they are providing, but I would just like 
to hear a little bit about how you got there.  
 
Vice-Chair Phillips: Yeah, of course. So, unfortunately Director Dermott is not here today, but 
Director Murphy can attest to this as well. That’s a comparable to other wages that the Student’s 
Union are receiving as far as I understand it. Other part-time employees, as themselves, it may 
even be a touch higher perhaps, however, given the duties and the Ad Hoc responsibilities of the 
role and the fast-paced nature of it, I believe that, or the committee believes that to be a fair wage 
for this position 
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Director Abu-Rshaid: Fantastic, thank you so much 
 
Chair Del Giudice: Thank you, are there any further questions or comments. Vice-Chair? 
 
Vice-Chair Phillips: Can I motion for this recommendation or is that up to another director. 
 
Chair Del Giudice: I think you can, Ian can you confirm that the vice-chair can motion to 
confirm these recommendations 
 
PR&A Muller: Yeah, I mean if someone on the board felt like there was a conflict in that, they 
could speak to that, but I don’t think there are any concerns given what’s on the table.  
 
Chair Del Giudice: Okay 
 
Vice-Chair Phillips: Okay, then I would like to motion that the board approve both 
recommendations found by the Ad Hoc Honorarium Committee.  
 
Director Abu-Rshaid: I’ll second that.  
 
Chair Del Giudice: Okay, seconded by Director Abu-Rshaid. Would you like to speak to your 
motions? 
 
Vice-Chair Phillips:  Thank you to Directors Boettinger, Murphy, and Dermott for all your 
work over the summer, and this community.  
 
Chair Del Giudice: any further comments or questions? 
 
Director Abu-Rshaid:  I did have a question. Did we not amend I think, was it last meeting, or 
two meetings ago, the strategic ends of the student union? 
 
Chair Del Giudice: We did yes 
 
Director Abu-Rshaid: Okay, on the briefing note, it hasn’t been updated, I just kind of noticed 
that. I did have a question as well for the president. In the briefing notes Section 12 subsection C 
it says that NFPONCA transition updating the SU By-laws in accordance with the updates to the 
Ontario not for profit corporations act. I was wondering if you would be able to give me a little 
bit of detail as to what that is.  
 
PR&A Muller: Yeah, so I can, check off a couple of boxes, one the 
 
Chair Del Giudice: Also, really quick. Can we get a page number on that just for everybody 
over here? 
 
PR&A Muller: It’s part of Tony’s updates to the board report. So, the edit to the strategic ends 
that hasn’t been updated yet in the policy manual, that would be one of the tasks for example that  
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the governance coordinator would help to execute, so that is coming, it’s effective as of the date 
motion approved, but the policy manual has yet to be updated, so that will be updated shortly. 
So, what is being referred to in the updates for the Director Strategic Initiatives is that all not-for 
profit organizations in Ontario are required to comply with legislation that is coming into effect, 
essentially the not-for profit act has been in existence for quite some time had not yet received 
royal ascent so it had given a long runway for not-for profit organizations to make any 
amendments to their constitution by-laws in order to comply with the new legislation previously 
we would be party to the Corporations Act which has provisions for organizations like ourselves, 
now that this new not-for profit specific legislation is coming, or is in effect and it gives us a 
certain, and I believe it’s three years its three years to comply with the provisions. So, one of the 
strategic projects that Tony is spearheading for us is to continue some work that last board 
started which is doing a kind of inventory of our by-laws, taking a look at our structure, and 
making sure that we are identifying the things that we need to do to be in compliance within the 
time frame allotted to us by that legislation. We have consultations with our lawyers who have 
given us some briefing materials, so he’s kind of taking a lead to make sure that project is 
progressing as it needs to so we can meet our compliance requirements.  
 
Director Abu-Rshaid: Perfect, on that note of Tony, I would like to ask you a second question. I 
had a brief conversation with him last weekend, I don’t know if he briefed you on it, looking at a 
board level approach to engaging/comparing how we engage with local policy makers in 
Waterloo and Kitchener, versus how the Student Union engages with local policy makers here in 
Brantford. Just to kind of give us a better idea of what makes the relationship work well in 
Waterloo in terms of student advocacy, and how we can use some of the strategies to improve 
the improve the student advocacy for the student experience here in downtown Brantford. As a 
great attest to that, having walked here in downtown to this meeting, there are quite a lot of 
problems with lighting, etc. that I think that a board approach to kind of atleast being able to find 
what Waterloo, how we are engaging with Waterloo policy makers and how we are engaging 
with Brantford policy makers, and adjusting that. I think that may be a good idea. I would like to 
get your input on that.   
 
PR&A Muller: Yes, I mean that is something that certainly that Shane could take back to his 
team, I mean certainly we have a long history of student led advocacy in both Brantford and 
Waterloo, I mean lighting being one example of things that we’ve been addressing for quite 
awhile. So, there may be an opportunity for the governance and equal relations department to be 
able to provide the board with an update with some of what it’s been, some of it’s plans for the 
new year. We have, each year in the year, in the winter term, we have something called Local 
Advocacy Week where we are meeting with local representatives from their respective 
municipalities on issues such as those, so that Brantford specific topics as well as Waterloo 
specific topics. So there is a possibly to kind of chat about what that looks like and then, again 
that’s a volunteer driven opportunity, so there may be an opportunity if there are some board 
members if they would like to participate in local advocacy week, that’s something that we could 
certainly explore with the vice-president of governance and equal relations depending on how 
they are kind of operationalizing that, we can, Shane and I can chat, and maybe we can set up a  
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meeting offline with you Mohammad and just kind of just kind of chat through with some of the 
ideas that you have and how we could bring that forward to the board for a future conversation. 
 
Director Abu-Rshaid: I think that it’s really important that based on the conversation I had with 
Tony, is that actually cooperating with the institution and approaching it as not only from the 
university perspective, from the student body perspective as well, so coordinating with their 
actions for example with Dean of Students, especially the Dean of Students here in Brantford, so 
that we can best advocate for our population, so, I’d love to hear from the president about what 
their goals are for local advocacy here in Brantford, if that would be okay? 
 
President Symington: Yeah, it’s been in my platform, when I ran back in January, that was, it 
seems like a relatively simple solution when it comes to something that could fix, what the 
experience is like to walk around downtown Brantford at night, because yeah it is, it would 
definitely improve how safe it feels and how safe it actually is to walk around the downtown 
area, even during the day with how much homelessness there is down there. With that said, I 
think this year presents a very unique opportunity with the fact that there are municipal elections 
coming up this month, where we are able to advocate to politicians on those key issues. 
Hopefully, they can take that into account when they are actually, in their final stretch right now, 
because I believe it’s October 24, that last stretch that might make that difference, then hopefully 
when whoever comes into office, comes into office, we can try and hammer that point home that 
this is something that students of the area, that do have as much vote as anyone else, want to see, 
and that it’s very crucial to their university experience. 
 
Director Abu-Rshaid: and that’s why I wanted to bring it to the board’s attention this week 
because the election is right around the corner for them and certainly in Ward 2 and Ward 3 here 
in Brantford, the significant student population is quite significant, so really taking this 
opportunity to the best of our ability. So, last question for you Mr. President is actually about the 
Student Manager program, I was wondering if you any thoughts about bringing it back? 
 
President Symington: I’m not actually aware of what the Student Manager program is 
 
 
PR&A Muller:  I’m not sure what this Student Manager, my hand is still up for something about 
the two recommendations still on the table for the Honorarium Ad Hoc Committee.  
 
Vice-Chair Phillips: I was also wondering if we were going to continue voting on that, actually 
 
Director Abu-Rshaid:  I completely derailed that; did we not vote? I’m so sorry, my apologies.  
 
Chair Del Giudice: Alright, so first of all, thank you directors so much for your questions, they 
were very substantive, however, please have these questions before we adopt the agenda so that 
we can stay on track for all the things we have on the agenda for the evening.  
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PR&A Muller: Yeah, I was just wondering if would make more sense to vote independently on 
recommendation 1 and recommendation 2, that way you could vote on recommendation # 2 for 
the operations team to present the specifics for what the tuition bursary was, just so the board 
was confident that it met their expectations. 
 
Vice-Chair Phillips: Just to clarify, so can I rescind my previous motion and motion firstly that 
the board adopt the first recommendation of the Ad Hoc Honorarium Committee? 
 
Motion # 3 Adopt recommendation # 1 from the Ad Hoc Honorarium Committee (Abu-
Rshaid/Boettinger) 
Vote:  6-0-0 
Result: Pass 
 
Motion # 4 Adopt Recommendation # 2 from the Ad Hoc Honorarium Committee pending the 
exact amount from operations (Phillips/Abu-Rshaid) 
Vote: 7-0-0 
Result: Pass 
 

9. In-Camera Session 
 
Motion # 5 Board of Directors move to an In-camera session (Abu-Rshaid/Murphy) 
Vote: 7-0-0 
Result: Pass 
 
Length: 41minutes, 3 seconds.  
.  
 



Submitted: October 28nd, 2022 
Prepared by: Mohammad Abu-Rshaid, Chair of the Ends Direct Inspection Committee 
Purpose: To review and assess EL#2J 
 

Summary 
The Ends DIC Committee was struct on October 27th, 2022 with the mandate to review and 
assess EL#2J. The committee ensures that: 1) The evidence presented was appropriate and up 
to date; 2) The wording of the policy is sound; and 3) That the scope of the organization is 
captured in the policy. 
 
The membership of the committee consists of Board Chair Del Giudice, Director Goodwin, and 
Director Abu-Rshaid.  
For the EL#2J DIC, the committee had discussions on the following items prior to making their 
final decision: 

 If the wording of the policy was still relevant to the Organization; 
 If the scope of the organization was captured in the policy; 
 How recent the policy was looked at and revised; 
 If the scope of the organization was captured in the policy. 

 
Recommendation: 
 
Recommendations are typed in boldface: 
 
The final decision of the committee consists of a few recommendations to the policy at hand: 
With respect to the hiring of unpaid staff, the President shall not allow conditions that are unfair, 
disrespectful, prohibitive, biased or ambiguous. 
 
The President will not: 
1.Operate without up-to-date written hiring procedures that: 

a. delineate Accurately describe special circumstances under which deviation from 
policy would be acceptable; 

B. are readily available and easily understood by hiring staff and applicants; 
C. delineate Accurately describe situations in which an applicant would not be 

considered for a position; and 
d. follow a well-defined and widely recognized practice. 

2.Operate without protection against improper access to publicly discernible identifiable 
information public candidate information. 
3.Allow a procedure that is unnecessarily complex or restrictive given the responsibilities of the 
position. 
4.Operate without taking into account previous formal performance appraisals or documented 
disciplinary action; including ongoing complaints generated by the Organization and 
relevant university partners. 
5.Operate without providing access to personalized feedback and coaching to applicants that 
will assist them in future applications. 
6.Allow applicants to be unaware of this policy 
7. or to Shall provide a way to be heard for persons who believe that they have not been 
accorded a reasonable interpretation of their rights under this policy. 
 



Respectfully submitted 
 
Mohammad Abu-Rshaid 
 
Mohammad Abu-Rshaid 
Director 
Chair of the Ends Direct Inspection Committee 
Wilfrid Laurier University Students’ Union 
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INDEPENDENT AUDITORS' REPORT

To the Students of Wilfrid Laurier University Students' Union

Opinion

We have audited the financial statements of Wilfrid Laurier University Students' Union
(the Entity), which comprise:

 the financial position as at April 30, 2022

 the statement of operations for the year then ended

 the statement of changes in net assets for the year then ended

 the statement of cash flows for the year then ended

 and notes to the financial statements, including a summary of significant accounting

policies

(Hereinafter referred to as the ''financial statements'').

In our opinion, the accompanying financial statements present fairly, in all material
respects, the financial position of the Entity as at April 30, 2022, and its results of
operations and its cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with Canadian
accounting standards not-for-profit organizations.

Basis for Opinion

We conducted our audit in accordance with Canadian generally accepted auditing
standards. Our responsibilities under those standards are further described in the
''Auditors' Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements'' section of our
auditors' report.

We are independent of the Entity in accordance with the ethical requirements that are
relevant to our audit of the financial statements in Canada and we have fulfilled our other
ethical responsibilities in accordance with these requirements.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to
provide a basis for our opinion.

Responsibilities of Management and Those Charged with
Governance for the Financial Statements

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the financial
statements in accordance with Canadian accounting standards not-for-profit
organizations, and for such internal control as management determines is necessary to
enable the preparation of financial statements that are free from material misstatement,
whether due to fraud or error. 

In preparing the financial statements, management is responsible for assessing the
Entity's ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to
going concern and using the going concern basis of accounting unless management
either intends to liquidate the Entity or to cease operations, or has no realistic alternative
but to do so. 

Those charged with governance are responsible for overseeing the Entity's financial
reporting process.
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Auditors' Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements
as a whole are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to
issue an auditors' report that includes our opinion. 

Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit
conducted in accordance with Canadian generally accepted auditing standards will always
detect a material misstatement when it exists. 

Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or
in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions
of users taken on the basis of the financial statements. 

As part of an audit in accordance with Canadian generally accepted auditing standards,
we exercise professional judgment and maintain professional skepticism throughout the
audit.

We also:

 Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements,

whether due to fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to

those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a

basis for our opinion.

The risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than
for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional
omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal control.

 Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design

audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of

expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the Entity's internal control.

 Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of

accounting estimates and related disclosures made by management.

 Conclude on the appropriateness of management's use of the going concern basis of

accounting and, based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty

exists related to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the Entity's

ability to continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a material uncertainty exists,

we are required to draw attention in our auditors' report to the related disclosures in

the financial statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion.

Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our

auditors' report. However, future events or conditions may cause the Entity to cease to

continue as a going concern.

 Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the financial statements,

including the disclosures, and whether the financial statements represent the

underlying transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair presentation.
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 Communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other matters,

the planned scope and timing of the audit and significant audit findings, including any

significant deficiencies in internal control that we identify during our audit.

DRAFT
Chartered Professional Accountants, Licensed Public Accountants

Waterloo, Canada



WILFRID LAURIER UNIVERSITY STUDENTS' UNION
Statement of Financial Position

DRAFT 
April 30, 2022, with comparative information for 2021

2022 2021

Assets

Current assets:
Cash $ 5,967,123 $ 4,124,099
Accounts receivable 920,279 602,302
Due from Wilfrid Laurier University 265,421 -
Inventories 32,800 32,800
Prepaid expenses 2,252 554

7,187,875 4,759,755

Property and equipment (note 2) 2,542,462 3,014,137

Restricted cash (note 3) 603,371 381,215

$ 10,333,708 $ 8,155,107
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2022 2021

Liabilities and Fund Balances

Current liabilities:
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities (note 4) $ 383,322 $ 141,776
Deferred revenue 1,223,173 819,470
Due to Campus Clubs 1,808,512 1,541,847
Due to Wilfrid Laurier University - 750,862
Current portion of long-term debt (note 5) 291,346 847,465
Demand note to Wilfrid Laurier University (note 6) 462,387 838,046

4,168,740 4,939,466

Deferred capital contributions 760,163 743,431
Long-term debt (note 5) 1,534,030 1,443,409
Other long-term liabilities - 25,273

2,294,193 2,212,113

6,462,933 7,151,579

Fund balances:
Internally restricted (note 7) 808,111 525,111
Unrestricted 3,062,664 478,417

3,870,775 1,003,528
Pension plan (note 9)
Impact of COVID-19 pandemic (note 13)

$ 10,333,708 $ 8,155,107

See accompanying notes to financial statements.

On behalf of the Board:

  Director

  Director
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WILFRID LAURIER UNIVERSITY STUDENTS' UNION
Statement of Operations

DRAFT 
Year ended April 30, 2022, with comparative information for 2021

2022 2021

Revenue (Schedule 1) $ 9,571,904 $ 7,529,057

Expenses (Schedule 2) 6,155,558 4,626,342

Excess of revenue over expenses before other
expenses (Schedule 3) 3,416,346 2,902,715

Other expenses:
Amortization of property and equipment 474,485 474,484
Interest on long-term debt 74,614 91,167

549,099 565,651

Excess of revenue over expenses $ 2,867,247 $ 2,337,064

See accompanying notes to financial statements.
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WILFRID LAURIER UNIVERSITY STUDENTS' UNION
Statement of Changes in Net Assets

DRAFT 
Year ended April 30, 2022, with comparative information for 2021

Health plan
contingency

fund

Essential
 services
revenue

fund

 Capital
reserve

fund
Unrestricted

fund
Total
2022

Total
2021

Balance, beginning

of year $ 384,000 $ 61,111 $ 80,000 $ 478,417 $ 1,003,528 $ (1,333,536)
Excess (deficiency)

of revenues over

expenses - - - 2,867,247 2,867,247 2,337,064
Transfers between

funds 133,000 - 150,000 (283,000) - -

Balance, end of

year $ 517,000 $ 61,111 $ 230,000 $ 3,062,664 $ 3,870,775 $ 1,003,528
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WILFRID LAURIER UNIVERSITY STUDENTS' UNION
Statement of Cash Flows

DRAFT 
Year ended April 30, 2022, with comparative information for 2021

2022 2021

Cash provided by (used in):

Operations:
Excess of revenue over expenses $ 2,867,247 $ 2,337,064
Item not involving cash:

Amortization of property and equipment 475,348 474,484

3,342,595 2,811,548
Changes in non-cash operating working capital:

Accounts receivable (317,977) (224,129)
Inventories - 12,845
Prepaid expenses (1,698) (452)
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities 241,546 (23,384)
Deferred revenue 403,703 13,179
Due to Campus Clubs 266,665 201,170
Due to Wilfrid Laurier University (1,016,283) 430,782

2,918,551 3,221,559

Financing:
Increase in deferred capital contributions 16,732 -
Repayment of long-term debt (465,498) (265,652)
Repayment of demand note (375,659) (172,666)
(Decrease) increase in other long-term liabilities (25,273) -

(849,698) (438,318)

Investing:
Purchase of property and equipment (3,673) (39,504)
Increase in restricted cash (222,156) (44,813)

(225,829) (84,317)

Increase in cash 1,843,024 2,698,924

Cash, beginning of year 4,124,099 1,425,175

Cash, end of year $ 5,967,123 $ 4,124,099

See accompanying notes to financial statements.
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WILFRID LAURIER UNIVERSITY STUDENTS' UNION
Notes to Financial Statements

DRAFT 
Year ended April 30, 2022

Nature of operations:

Wilfrid Laurier University Students' Union (the "Organization") is a non-profit organization providing

services to the students of Wilfrid Laurier University (the "University"). The Organization is

incorporated, without share capital, under the laws of Ontario.

1. Significant accounting policies:

The financial statements have been prepared by management in accordance with the Chartered

Professional Accountants of Canada Handbook Part III - Canadian accounting standards for

not-for-profit organizations. The significant policies are summarized below:

(a) Revenue recognition:

The Organization follows the deferral method of accounting. Unrestricted donations are

recorded as received.

Contributions restricted to the acquisition of capital assets having a limited life are initially

recorded as deferred capital contributions in the period in which they are received. They are

recognized as revenue over the useful life of the related assets.

Student fees are recognized as revenue when the associated service has been provided.

Sales and services revenue is recognized at the point of sale or when the service has been

provided.

(b) Internally restricted funds:

In order to ensure observance of the limitations and restrictions on the use of resources

available to the Organization, internally restricted funds are held in accordance with the

objectives and directives issued by the Board of Directors. Transfers between the funds are

made when it is considered appropriate and authorized by the Board of Directors. 

For financial reporting purposes, the accounts have been classified in the following funds:

(i) Health and dental plan contingency fund which records internally restricted reserves

relating to the health plan premiums. 

(ii) Essential services reserve fund which records internally restricted reserves relating

to future capital purchases for Essential Service Programs on both the Waterloo and

Brantford campuses.

(iii) Capital reserve fund which records internally restricted amounts relating to general

future capital purchases.
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WILFRID LAURIER UNIVERSITY STUDENTS' UNION
Notes to Financial Statements (continued)

DRAFT 
Year ended April 30, 2022

1. Significant accounting policies (continued):

(c) Contributed services:

A substantial number of student volunteers contribute a significant amount of their time

each year. Because of the difficulty of determining the fair value, contributed services are

not recognized in the financial statements.

(d) Inventories:

Inventories are measured at the lower of cost and net realizable value with cost being

determined substantially on a fist-in, first-out basis. 

(e) Property and equipment:

Property and equipment are stated at cost, less accumulated amortization. Amortization is

recorded on all property and equipment on a straight-line basis over the estimated useful

life of the assets at the following annual rates:

Asset Rate

Building 20 years
Computer hardware 3 years
Furniture and fixtures 5 years
Entertainment equipment 5 years
Vehicles 5 years
Leasehold improvements 20 years

(f) Impairment of long-lived assets:

Long-lived assets, including property and equipment are reviewed for impairment whenever

events or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying amount of an asset may not

be recoverable. Recoverability is measured by a comparison of the carrying amount to the

estimated undiscounted future cash flows expected to be generated by the asset. If the

carrying amount of the asset exceeds its estimated future cash flows, an impairment

charge is recognized by the amount by which the carrying amount of the asset exceeds the

fair value of the asset. 
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WILFRID LAURIER UNIVERSITY STUDENTS' UNION
Notes to Financial Statements (continued)

DRAFT 
Year ended April 30, 2022

1. Significant accounting policies (continued):

(g) Financial instruments:

Financial instruments are recorded at fair value on initial recognition.  Freestanding

derivative instruments that are not in a qualifying hedging relationship and equity

instruments that are quoted in an active market are subsequently measured at fair value.

All other financial instruments are subsequently recorded at cost or amortized cost, unless

management has elected to carry the instruments at fair value.  The Organization has not

elected to carry any such financial instruments at fair value.

Transaction costs incurred on the acquisition of financial instruments measured

subsequently at fair value are expensed as incurred.  All other financial instruments are

adjusted by transaction costs incurred on acquisition and financing costs, which are

amortized using the straight-line method (or effective interest rate method).

Financial assets are assessed for impairment on an annual basis at the end of the fiscal

year if there are indicators of impairment.  If there is an indicator of impairment, the

Organization determines if there is a significant adverse change in the expected amount or

timing of future cash flows from the financial asset.  If there is a significant adverse change

in the expected cash flows, the carrying value of the financial asset is reduced to the

highest of the present value of the expected cash flows, the amount that could be realized

from selling the financial asset or the amount the Organization expects to realize by

exercising its right to any collateral.  If events and circumstances reverse in a future period,

an impairment loss will be reversed to the extent of the improvement, not exceeding the

initial carrying value. 

(h) Use of estimates:

The preparation of the financial statements requires management to make estimates and

assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities and disclosure of

contingent assets and liabilities at the date of the financial statements and the reported

amounts of revenue and expenses during the year. Significant items subject to such

estimates and assumptions include the carrying amounts of property and equipment,

accounts receivable, inventories, and accrued liabilities. Actual results could differ from

those estimates.
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WILFRID LAURIER UNIVERSITY STUDENTS' UNION
Notes to Financial Statements (continued)

DRAFT 
Year ended April 30, 2022

2. Property and equipment:

2022 2021

Cost
Accumulated
amortization

Net book
value

Net book
value

Building $ 1,750,000 $ 1,400,000 $ 350,000 $ 437,500
Entertainment equipment 73,568 70,626 2,942 2,942
Furniture and fixtures 1,314,558 1,311,750 2,808 -
Vehicles 73,962 73,962 - -
Computer hardware 462,232 449,123 13,109 42,932
Leasehold improvements 10,267,009 8,093,406 2,173,603 2,530,763

$ 13,941,329 $ 11,398,867 $ 2,542,462 $ 3,014,137

3. Restricted cash:

The Board of Directors has restricted $603,371 (2021 - $381,215) of cash to be put towards the

health and dental plan contingency fund.

4. Accounts payable and accrued liabilities:

Included in accounts payable and accrued liabilities are government remittances payable of $nil

(2020 - $nil), which includes amounts payable for HST and payroll related taxes.

5. Long-term debt:

2022 2021

Non-revolving term loan repayable in blended monthly

installments of $10,868, bearing 

fixed interest at 3.04%, due July 18, 2026 $ 474,081 $ 612,812
Non-revolving term loan repayable in blended monthly

installments of $5,586, bearing 

fixed interest at 3.08%, due January 4, 2022 387,027 588,026
WLU term loan payable in blended monthly installments

of $13,078, bearing interest at 4.10%, until September

1, 2020 and then 3.5% onwards, due September 1,

2025 964,268 1,090,036

1,825,376 -
Less current portion of long-term debt 291,346 1,352,862

$ 1,534,030 $ (1,352,862)
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WILFRID LAURIER UNIVERSITY STUDENTS' UNION
Notes to Financial Statements (continued)

DRAFT 
Year ended April 30, 2022

5. Long-term debt (continued):

Principal repayments are due as follows:

2023 $ 291,346
2024 305,934
2025 316,428
2026 308,612
2027 205,693
Thereafter 397,363

$ 1,825,376

6. Demand note to Wilfrid Laurier University:

The note to Wilfrid Laurier University is due on demand, plus interest, defined as the interest

rate earned on the University’s short-term cash balance. Minimum annual payments will include

the minimum principal amount plus applicable interest. The minimum principal payments shall

be annually increased from the minimum annual payment of $150,000 based on the percentage

increase in undergraduate student enrolment at the University from the base in the 2012 - 2013

academic year.

7. Internally restricted funds:

Funds are transferred to the Health Plan Contingency Fund and the Essential Services Revenue

Fund which are internally restricted. The unspent funds are disclosed as internally restricted in

these financial statements as follows:

2021 2020

Health and dental plan contingency fund $ 517,000 $ 342,000
Essential services reserve fund 61,111 61,111
Capital reserve fund 230,000 80,000

$ 808,111 $ 483,111
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WILFRID LAURIER UNIVERSITY STUDENTS' UNION
Notes to Financial Statements (continued)

DRAFT 
Year ended April 30, 2022

8. Credit facilities:

The Organization has an available $200,000 revolving bank line of credit which bears interest at

prime plus 0.25%. No amount was drawn on this facility as at April 30, 2022.

The bank line of credit and the non-revolving term loans are secured by a guarantee and

postponement of claim in the amount of $3,000,000 signed by the University. The agreement

with the bank requires the Organization to comply with certain covenants, which, if violated,

could affect the terms of the loan. As at April 30, 2022, the Organization was in compliance with

all bank covenants.

9. Pension plan:

A few employees of the Organization are members of the Wilfrid Laurier University Defined

Contribution Pension Plan, a multi-employer plan. Contributions to the plan made by the

Organization during the year on behalf of employees amounts to $ (2021 - $27,922) and are

included as a charge to the statement of operations.

10. Fair values:

The carrying amount of accounts receivable, accounts payable and accrued liabilities, due

from/to Wilfrid Laurier University and long-term debt approximates their fair values.

11. Capital management:

The Organization's objective in managing its capital is to ensure sufficient liquidity to meet its

monthly operating requirements and undertake program initiatives for the benefit of its purposes,

while at the same time taking a conservative approach towards management of financial risk.

The Organization's capital is comprised of net assets. The Organization's primary use of capital

is to finance capital expenditures, ongoing operations, and future projects. The Organization

currently funds these requirements out of its internally generated cash flows. The Organization is

not subject to any internally imposed capital requirements.

12. Comparative information:

Certain comparative information has been reclassified to conform with the financial statement

presentation adopted for the current year.
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13. Impact of COVID-19 pandemic:

On March 11, 2020, the World Health Organization declared the Coronavirus (COVID-19)

outbreak a pandemic. The pandemic has resulted in significant financial, market and societal

impacts in Canada and around the world.

The ultimate duration and magnitude of the COVID-19 pandemic's impact on the Organization’s

operations and financial position is not known at this time. There remains uncertainty over the

impact on future customer service requirements from new or existing Provincial COVID-19

safety orders. These impacts could include a decline in future cash flows, changes to the value

of assets and liabilities, and the use of net assets to sustain operations. An estimate of the

financial effect of the pandemic on the Organization is not practicable at this time.
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2022 2021

Fred Nichol's Campus Centre $ 1,460,175 $ 1,370,488
Health and dental 4,279,695 3,213,581
Wilfs 800,415 516,319
Brantford hospitality services 31,692 -
U-Desk 35,023 1,269
Food court/leasing operations 593,923 352,445
Services and programming 413,065 344,753
Governance and fees 1,690,932 1,459,610
Brantford BSC, Administration, Fees, EVP & Governance 266,984 270,592

$ 9,571,904 $ 7,529,057
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2022 2021

Fred Nichol's Campus Centre $ 1,570,708 $ 1,175,450
Health and dental 2,525,642 2,284,555
Turret 53 378
Wilfs 919,873 545,640
Brantford hospitality services 18,777 1,655
U-Desk 33,766 12,383
Food court/leasing operations 208,673 206,720
University affairs 60,229 60,375
Campus clubs and faculty associations 101,175 11,480
Services and programming 391,018 140,403
Administration 31,774 29,229
Governance and fees 10,204 8,309
President 30,173 11,467
Brantford BSC, Administration, Fees, EVP & Governance 195,572 131,444
Brantford activities, services, and operations 57,921 6,854

$ 6,155,558 $ 4,626,342
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2022 2021

Fred Nichol's Campus Centre $ (110,532) $ 195,038
Health and dental 1,754,053 929,026
Turret (53) (378)
Wilfs (119,457) (29,321)
Brantford hospitality services 12,915 (1,655)
U-Desk (11,114) (11,113)
Food court/leasing operations 145,725 145,726
University affairs (60,229) (60,375)
Campus clubs and faculty associations (101,175) (11,480)
Services and programming 22,047 99,240
Administration (31,774) (29,229)
Governance and fees 1,680,727 1,451,301
President (30,173) (11,467)
Brantford BSC, Admin, Fees, EVP and Governance 71,412 42,277
Brantford activities, services, and operations (57,921) (6,854)

$ 3,164,451 $ 2,700,736
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